
Summary of Recording – John Simkin
School background – council estate – secondary modern- boring history teacher – left school at 15 - teachers wanted ‘right’ answers. Apprentice printer – lunchtime political discussions – joined local library and Young Socialists. Left print works at 21 – became off licence manager – brother teacher. Pro Open University when introduced – became editor of Young Socialist magazine – joined OU in Dartford – mostly professionals – working-class soon dropped out. Learned how to write essays to please lecturers – started to consider teaching – applied PGCE Sussex 1975 – trained to teach history and sociology – sent to progressive school for placement – no teaching jobs 1976/7. OU summer schools- many working-class people – enjoyed seminars as mature student at Sussex – others less interested – observed good and bad lessons – teaching style an expression of personality. Watched other students teach – some could not relate to children unwilling to learn – feared them – importance of physical presence to discipline – had learned from dealing with gangs outside off licence. Challenge of difficult children from deprived backgrounds – push teachers beyond limits. University teaching – sources and interpretations – aimed to take this into school – helped to first job by history adviser in Sussex. School moving from secondary modern to comprehensive – head of department dabbled in Schools Council History Project materials – Mark Pullen exercise a let-down – not a real person. Designed own booklet – mystery of Marie Celeste – based on genuine sources and historians’ views.  Interest in family history – produced booklet on World War 1 – also simulation exercise – trial of Sir Douglas Haig for  Battle of the Somme – based on war diaries and letters collected or in Sussex Univ. library – all popular with pupils. Began PhD study – collaboration with Sussex Univ. lecturer – sociological study of two groups of sixth-form pupils. Got involved with publishing co-operative set up by lecturer at Sussex – to publish teaching materials – illustrations by brother – capital £100 each from members – got coverage in Times Educational Supplement and Guardian – lots of orders – new market for source booklets produced cheaply – sold class sets – birth of Tressell Publications. Sales immense – but still based in his house – worksheets sold to museums – series of books with contemporary accounts. Dropped PhD to concentrate on teaching and Tressell – produced resource books for all years except sixth-form – contrast with traditional text books like Cootes and Snelgrove which had photographs but no cartoons. Teachers sent in their own materials – some taken up and produced by Tressell – tried out materials in classroom. Structure of booklets – narrative introduction – series of first-hand accounts – questions on sources – example from World War 1. Sold so well had to take on employees – but these teachers worn out by the classroom – not necessarily best for job. Members wrote book about formation of co-operative – some academics left – replaced by teachers. Some books sold well – others poor decisions. Initially about books – hostile to computers – primary head proposed turn book into computer simulation – at first resisted – saw children absorbed in simple game on computer – decided to produce computer package. Headteacher offered to do programming – advertised package with paper materials as back-up work for pupils – to take advantage of government grants for computer packages early 1980s – but programming not delivered – one of co-operative members learned to program – delivered six months late. Sold loads – voted best computer package of year – back-up paper materials the real appeal to teachers – class worked on these while individual pupils went on computer. Lots of technical problems overcome – produced further two packages – two teachers in co-operative learned to program – both had breakdowns due to stress. Book publication now secondary – left Tressell 1984 while well-established – sceptical about reliance on computer funding to schools in long term – also left job – taking too much time off for in-service training to support packages. Head of Department job in Brighton – problems faced by teachers using computers in 1980s – ran 3-day courses – helped sell the packages – need to keep updating teachers’ computer skills. Formed new publishing company – Spartacus Educational - concerned about over-emphasis on computers in teaching. Left teaching late 1980s - ahead on preparation for GCSE – produced 12 booklets – ‘Evidence and Empathy’ – quicker than big publishers – cashed in on grants for materials – sold well. Recruited other subject teachers to write booklets – needed warehouse for storage – but took on no employees – problems at Tressell – went bankrupt and members forced to pay debts – some bad feeling due to competition from Spartacus. Did in-service training for National Curriculum with Chris Culpin. Response to National Curriculum – again published swiftly to take advantage of extra school funding – teachers’ books very popular – enabled teachers to appear ‘expert’ to pupils. Cost of warehouse soared after ‘Black Wednesday’ 1992 – competition from cheap colour text books printed in Far East – Harper Collins owned by Rupert Murdoch – text books sold below cost – could not compete. National Curriculum encouraged conservatism by teachers – with Ofsted inspection – returned to traditional text books now cheap – tried to compete with coloured books but needed large print-runs – costs of storage high – limited investment in new titles – eventually wound down publishing – returned to teaching 1994/5. Developed Yalding Project as response to National Curriculum – 2-term course for Year 7 covering ‘Medieval Realms’study unit – based on real village in Kent and its inhabitants – linked to Norman Conquest and Magna Carta but explored through village and its lord – each child took on a named character in the village – went through series of problems – guidance to teachers on allocation of roles – culminates in Peasants’ Revolt – took children to Yalding. Not computer-based – in book form – now on the internet as free resource – successful in school but financial disaster as publication – ahead of its time.  Used same approach for topic on women’s right’s – struggle for the vote in East Grinstead where school based – created page on the internet for diaries and letters to support simulation – appeal of local history – another success in school. Launched first website to support history teaching September 1997 – taught himself how to create webpages – free content – soon had loyal following – got sponsorship from local internet provider. Study showed website very popular – writes all content himself – makes money from advertising – used internet in his teaching when only one machine in school library. Bid for room of computers for history 1999 – devised work for other teachers to use on internet – critical of ‘cut and paste’ approach of pupils – developed more complex research exercises – pupil acts as teacher on own topic – idea came from book Kes. Popular simulation on child labour on website – taken up all over the world – no control over how materials are used – no teachers’ guide. Today not constrained by market pressures – pursues own historical interests. Late 1990s, brought in by Daily Telegraph as reviewer of websites – proposed to mark millennium by providing free source material covering whole National Curriculum – vetoed by Conrad Black – did not believe teachers would use Telegraph material. Took idea to Guardian but quit over standard of materials they were producing – and charging for. Feedback from the site – rarely from teachers. Enthusiasm core of teaching philosophy – key to materials – difficult for teachers to maintain over years – has always looked for the ‘alternative story’ in history. Internet now overtaking newspapers – website gets 6 million page impressions a month – early contact with Google search engine – linked to many other sites – high Google ranking – difficult for any teacher to do that now – lack of competition in website world. Set up Association of Teacher Websites – most could not make money and have disappeared. Involved in European projects to promote web use by history teachers – E-help Project designed to help teachers in Europe use the internet for teaching – different culture to UK where tradition of producing own materials – very few teachers in Europe have created websites – teach from text books. Changes to teaching since National Curriculum and Ofsted have led to rigidity in lessons – loss of creativity.  
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[Track 1]

My name is John Simkin.  I’m a former teacher and now I’m the owner and creator of a website that’s mainly used by history students.  Is that enough or you want me to say more than that about myself?  I think the rest will come out probably in the …

It will.

… in the questions.  I’ve got your list of questions.  Shall I just go through them? 

Well if I say them, it’s good for the transcript, so if you’d like to tell me about your own educational experience and how you came to decide on history teaching as a career?

Yes, I mean this is quite a long story really, because I went to school on a council estate.  There was no-one in my family who had ever done anything at all in educational terms, so I had no role models at all.  So expectations is always very important, so because I didn’t know of anybody who had jobs which had … was related to education qualifications I didn’t expect to do well at school and to me school, I never really took school too seriously.  It was just really about having a good time.  But when we ever did have tests I never did very well at all.  So I failed my Eleven Plus and then went to secondary modern school.  And even at the secondary modern school I wasn’t a high achiever so they never recommended that I move over at the age of thirteen, as happened sometimes.  Looking back, I just can’t work out why I performed so badly at school.  I just … the only things I can remember being interested in is writing, in English.  Definitely history didn’t have an impact on me at all.  In fact, I can tell you an interesting story about that, that many years later I went to interview, in fact, my former history teacher who was by that time a Labour MP and in the interview I discovered this man, who was Jewish, had been politicised during the 1930s with the Oswald Mosley marches through the East End of London and he held very passionate views, but that never came across in his history teaching at all.  I mean I found him incredibly boring history teacher, completely objective, completely dry.  And I think that’s one of the problems of how history teaching often is, that teachers try so hard to remain objective and unbiased etc, but they lose their passion, they lose their feeling, and so he was never able to relate to me.  But I found at that at the time that he was teaching me he was head of the Ilford Council.  He was the Labour Leader of the Ilford Council and Mayor of Ilford and what have you, so most peculiar that that didn’t show in his teaching. 

[0:03:03]

So because I didn’t do very well I left school at fifteen.  I mean there were other reasons; my father was killed when I was eleven, which was round about the time I took the Eleven Plus, that might have had an impact I suppose.  My mother never took any interest at all in my education and so I didn’t get that sort of support or even pressure if you like, from parents.  In those days you didn’t do any homework or anything like that.  But she never came into the school to talk to them about my progress.  Not at secondary school.  I think I remember in primary school she did because she came home to say that they thought I had a potential to become a comedian.  I think … actually this is quite interesting because I’ve just thought about this question, this point.  The teacher had said … we had to name an object that had three holes in it, and I said pyjama trousers.  

[both laughing]

But [laughs] … which shows a strange way of looking at the world.  And I think probably that teacher didn’t realise he’d plugged into my creative side, or my, your humorous side.  And I think looking back on it that one of the reasons I was bored at school is I wasn’t interested in right and wrong answers.  I’ve always been interested in theories and testing out theories and finding the truth of things that are not easily accessible.  I remember reading a book by a man called Douglas Barnes when I was trying to become a teacher and he said so much of what goes on in schools – he was talking about English teaching – he says is, or certainly it appears that the teacher is interested in the opinions of the children, but all he’s doing, all he’s really doing is getting the child to fill in the gaps, you know, that they’re closed questions that he’s asking and he’s just looking for the right answer, it’s not really about opinions at all.  And especially bright children; they get terribly bored by that and so they refuse to play the game and I suspect a lot of very bright kids are turned off education because of that.  And when I became a teacher I was always trying very hard to get to those kids who I suppose were like myself and were creative and were turned off by the structure of the school.  And I think from contact they’ve had with me since that in many cases that helps, you know, they relate to a teacher who sees the world as they see the world.  

[0:05:38]

So I left school at fifteen and I became an apprentice in the printing trade and I met a man who was … I was fifteen, he must have been about twenty-five at the time and his wife had just had their first child and the boy had died, the baby had died.  And because I didn’t have a father and he’d just lost his child he sort of adopted me in a way.  And he wasn’t in my department so … but I spent most of my dinner hours with him and he would ask me a lot of questions and they were questions I didn’t really know the answer to.  So it made me curious about things and only … as part of this, at dinnertime we used to sit round and the older men would discuss things like politics and I would try to join in because I always loved talking and course at school you don’t get a chance to do much talking so, you know, I was rather keen to join in with this.  And the … the men seemed to me to be very radical in what they were saying, but I suppose because … I think we had the Daily Mirror at home and I suppose I just parroted what the media were saying, and I suppose the discussions that I was having with them, and especially I think the discussions I was having with this Bob Clark, got me very interested in the world.  And he also taught me, I mean the art of teaching is to build someone’s confidence up and he was able to do that I think, he made me confident of my own views.  Only because he was suggesting that I joined the local library, for example, and I got information from there.  So he actually suggested to me that I actually join the Labour Party – he was a member of the Labour Party – he said the Young Socialists, he said, you’ll meet some interesting people there.
So what year was that then?

[0:07:51]

I do know this because I was eighteen at the time, by this time.  And I’d been home to his house and things like this, so I became like a friend of the family, even though I was much younger.  And I … the reason I remember the age, because I’d just met a girl who later I was to marry, who in fact died recently, and he suggested I join the Young Socialists.  And this girlfriend had … I knew her, she told me her mother was a member of the Labour Party, so I said oh, next time he comes round to collect the dues, ask where the local Labour, the Young Socialists meet, which she did and so we went along to the Young Socialists.  And it was there that I met people, they must have been grammar school education boys who had left school at sixteen, so they had more education than I had and for one reason or the other become involved in politics, but more importantly, there was one chap there who had gone to university and had dropped out after a year and we used to discuss politics, obviously and again, my views were still very right wing at the time and these people were making these, I thought considerably, very radical statements, and I got involved in arguments with them.  But of course they knew much … far more than I did and so again, I had to go back to the library and read up the books, etc and I gradually developed my own political opinions.  And then when I realised I could actually discuss things like this with someone who’d been to university, again I began to think well if I could do that, well then maybe I could … I’m bright enough to go to university, but at this time I wasn’t really thinking about university.  And by this … and by the age of twenty-one, I left the print because it was boring me silly and in fact this chap who had adopted me had a breakdown, I think because again … one of the problems about working in a factory, even though these people are highly skilled and you go through a six year apprenticeship in the job, you make use of these skills, most of the work is doing repetitive acts.  You know, you would stand by a machine for several days just watching the machine and so it starts to do your mind in really and the ones who dealt with that best were the least intelligent.  I remember reading an article about when they introduced, when Ford introduced the idea of the mass production line and they found the best workers were the ones with the lowest IQ, and I can understand that because you can deal with that, but if you’re someone who’s fairly intelligent and you want to discuss things and think about things, then it’s damaging and as it was damaging to this Bob Clark, and as I say, he had a breakdown.  And there was another chap there also had a breakdown round about the same time, another … clearly the second most intelligent person in this Ford factory.  I could see there again, you know, there was a problem there, you know, and that I had to get out.  And this Bob Clark, again it’s about living out his ambitions for him, he couldn’t get out because he had a mortgage and things, you know, so they had to patch him up and he went back to work.  But he said he always had this dream to run an off licence, which is a strange thing to do isn’t it?  But … so he said, have you thought about that, and as I was about to get married, the idea of an off licence which had a flat above it was obviously very attractive.  

[0:11:42]

So as soon as I finished my apprenticeship I joined a company called Westminster Wine and became an off licence manager.  And as I say, got married and so you’ve got responsibilities again, so the idea of going to university wasn’t really open to you, yeah.  And it will make sense when I talk about what I believe as a teacher and the best way of teaching.  So I became an off licence manager and other members of the Young Socialists became teachers, several of them became teachers, including my brother because my brother is four years younger than me and I got him to join the Young Socialists as well.  So he had a slightly different route; he became more politically conscious at a younger age than I did and he became a teacher and … yeah, I think - he went into advertising first – I think he got a job as an advertising clerk or something and then he went to teacher training college and it was a four-year course.  So … and there was others who went the same way, in fact several of the group became teachers.  So I suppose that was all in the background that this sort of thing was possible, because of that.  But I was a married man, then I had a child, and an off licence.  And the off licence, I was very good at it, running this off licence and eventually I took over, I became the tenant and I took over running it as a business, and my wife, and had two successful shops; one in Dartford, then one in Brighton.  So money then seems to become less of a problem because we were successful in business.  
[0:13:25]
But I was an active member of the Labour Party and during Harold Wilson’s government between ’66 and 1970 they … he talked about the idea of the Open University and I remember going to a board meeting in Dartford when this was brought up and the people were saying this is a ridiculous idea.  How can you have people going to university without A levels?  [laughs]  And I was listening to this, you know, and I thought well, I can’t see … I was able to argue with this chap, Young Socialist, and he was in the Young … maybe I could do it.  I mean my writing skills, I mean that would be the problem because I’d written articles for Young Socialist Magazine and things.  In fact eventually I became the editor of it, but my English skills were appalling really, looking back on it, I don’t know how I could have the courage to say I was an editor of a … it was only a little small magazine that we sold at all meetings.  So when it was introduced, it was in 1971 I think it was, wasn’t it?  Because it was actually introduced by Margaret Thatcher, she was Minister of Education, and it was quite interesting because it was much attacked by the Conservatives because they thought it was too radical idea, but he fell from office before it actually went through.  But Margaret Thatcher, Minister of Education, she came in and the idea was to scrap the whole plan, but then when she looked at it she realised what a cheap way it was for educating people and so she changed her mind and it was allowed to go through.  And Harold Wilson says in his memoirs that it was his great success, which I think is very interesting because all the things he did and that is … it’s because it’s something that’s left behind isn’t it, you know.  You often think about Tony Blair and things like, you know, what will they be really remembered for?  Well obviously he’s going to be remembered for the Iraq War, but you know, what positive things are going to be remembered?  And Harold Wilson I think was quite right to say the Open University.  So I joined the Open University, but that in itself caused me problems because I was still solidly working class and even though the idea of the Open University was to bring in working class, give working class people a second chance, in Dartford anyway, we went to the first meeting, there was about thirty people at the meeting and they went round everyone to say what they did.  And … accountant …  It was quite amazing.  These were all, mainly all professional people and you had the odd one who said, you know, I’m a builder’s labourer, or what have you, but what was interesting, that those people from working class backgrounds dropped out very quickly.  It became a middle class club and I was one of the …  I think I was the only working class person, who saw himself as a working class person, who stayed on.  And by this time I was quite sort of hardened I suppose, because of my political views, I felt that I could take on anybody and then I wouldn’t be put off by sort of that middle class culture, but I think the other people struggled.  And I always thought afterwards, what a terrible idea it was to get people to say what job they did, because I’m sure that was a very damaging thing to do.  Anyway, so I did the Open University and at first my essays, I remember my first essay the tutor had a word with me and she said, I’m afraid you’ll never pass this course if you write essays like that.  She said it’s like a political article in a magazine, which in fact was the sort of thing I used to write.  You know, you have to say on the one hand this, [laughing] on the other hand that, you know.  And so over the months I learnt the techniques.  I was bright enough by that stage to realise what you needed to do to get passed and I would go along with their games in order to get passed.
Were you doing the arts foundation course?

[0:17:22]

I did the arts foundation course and then I did the humanities foundation course and then I did courses on history and English literature, psychology.  And generally about, I suppose about halfway through I began to think about, when I’m at the end of this I’ll become a teacher, and so that I began to think in those terms and that’s why I took course units on educational psychology and things like this because it would help me at the end of it.  And as soon as I had six units, because I’d got, obviously I’d got no concessions at all, just got my six units, which is the ordinary degree, not honours degree, I applied to go to Sussex because I was, by that time I was living in Brighton and Sussex University was very close and I was already using the library.  And so I went there and I was very lucky in my interview.  I was interviewed by a man called Stephen Ball who at the time was doing research into mixed ability teaching.  And again, he was someone who was quite political and had come from a working class background and he recognised in me something, I suppose, of himself and so he’s now the sort of father type figure and he was very keen for me to do the course.  I was twenty-nine by then.
[0:18:48]

And was this a one-year course?

The one year, I’d be there one year, yeah.

For history?

For … yes, for training to be …  No, it was a trainee history/sociology because Steve Ball was sociology and they were very keen to train sociology teachers, so it was a history/sociology course and in my placement, my placement I was sent to Boundstone for a year, at Lancing, which is now unfortunately a failing school isn’t it?  But at the time it was a very progressive school and they, again, I was quite lucky in going to Boundstone. The kids were quite tough there but they gave me the opportunity to teach sixth formers, for example, which is unusual, which in the long term helped me a great deal.  And I taught, I taught history and sociology, but in fact I taught more sociology there, especially in the sixth form I did.  Because there was only one young sociology teacher and she was quite willing for me to share her sociology classes, whereas the history was all tied up with the head of department and so you couldn’t get a look in there.  So … so I did that for a year and then … I struggled to get a job because one, because of my age and secondly, because it was a time of – this was 1977 …
How old were you then?

[0:20:24]

So ’77 … ’45 I was born.  

Thirty-two.

Yeah.  No … I don’t remember I was as old as that, yeah.  Because I think I was about I was about to resign.  But I was born in ’45 and it was 19 … 76, maybe ’76 to ’77, but you know, I was obviously round about the thirty age.  And you might say, well age was not a problem then, but I … later, you know, it did turn out to be a problem.  But the other thing was that it was a time when unemployment was rising fast and there’d been an influx into education as always is the case, and also I needed to work close to Brighton because that’s where I was living and I had a family there and I had the off licence, my wife was running the off licence.  So I was very restricted on the jobs I could apply for.  And I also found out, one of the things that disappointed me when I went to - this is an interesting story as well about teaching – that I used to … by this time I was really in love with education and I really enjoyed myself at the Open University and I met some amazing people.  And even though I said about there was no working class people in Dartford by the time it got going, but at Summer Schools you met lots of working class people because you would have mining areas where there was a lot of support for them, so you would meet some most amazing people at Summer Schools, so it did do its job and it did give us a second chance for a lot of working class people.  So when I went to Sussex, you know, I was full of it and I really enjoyed the teaching and enjoyed the studying.  But I remember after one seminar we had, a group of these other students and so they were all sort of eight years or so younger, at least eight years younger than me, said that I was asking too many questions and that it was cutting down on their drinking time.  I was making the seminars last for too long because I was …  And I actually couldn’t understand that because, you know, used to say well I’m really enjoying this, but of course they had gone from school to a university and they were fed up of - and then the PGCE - they were fed up of education, they weren’t interested in education.  I would estimate about half the people on the course, going by what they said, the main reason they were training, because they didn’t want to leave Sussex University, they didn’t want to leave Brighton.  They had such a great social life in Brighton and they didn’t want to leave there and so they could get another year by doing the PGCE.  And a lot of them did drop out by the end of the … you know, they never had the intention to become teachers.  And the other thing that I noticed, one of the things they did at Sussex which I think was a really good idea, is that you were able to … you spent the first, the first week, first two weeks observing teachers teach, which was eye-opening for me.  I remember the first ever lesson I watched there was riots going on in the lesson.  It was an English teacher and she just had no control over these children and I thought, couldn’t cope with this.  It was like the education I’d received in Dagenham, you know, the behaviour of the children were no better, in fact it probably as bad.  But I went into the next lesson, it was also an English teacher and as it turned out, was actually the boyfriend of the first teacher.  And he had long flowing red hair, long red beard, wearing jeans, and he sat on the desk and he just talked to them and got their attention and then they had this debate about … I can’t remember what it was, it was a short story I think they were discussing.  And I realised that, you know, it was possible to do that and it was the contrast between these two lessons, that one person who couldn’t do it, had no idea, and she would never be a teacher, would never be a successful teacher, and this chap had this magic.  And he is probably one of the best teachers I’ve ever seen teach and he was only the second teacher who I ever saw teach.  But you saw a wide variety of different styles then, in that period, so you get some sort of idea about, you know, how do you teach, because I know when I was teaching the students would come in, I was having to train, they would say to you, you know, how do you teach, what style do you develop, how do you know which way to do it?  It’s a way … it’s really an expression of your personality isn’t it, you’ve got to – well it used to be anyway [laughs], I’m not sure it is like that any more, but …  I remember one woman, young woman asked me, she watched one of the lessons and she was knocked out by this lesson, she thought it was fantastic, she said, could you tell me the book where all your anecdotes are from?  [laughs]  And I said no, it means reading a lot of books to get those anecdotes.  But they want the easy way, there is some master plan to make it all so easy for you.  One of the problems about younger people, they find the idea of reading whole books very difficult.  [laughs]  The idea of reading lots of books to get these anecdotes was a bit too much for her.  
[0:25:50]

So you did that for the first two weeks and so you developed an idea about how to teach, but then you had … then you spent … then later on when you spent a week watching the other teachers teach, young students teach on your course, and that was very revealing as well.  And you realised that their middle class background was such a major disadvantage because they’d gone to grammar schools, in some cases even public schools, they’d always been in academic classes and always done well in those academic classes and here they were facing children who just didn’t want to know and they found it really difficult to relate to them.  But also they, physically they found it difficult to relate to them.  I remember seeing one teacher and he spent the whole class … he had his hands behind his back and they were firmly clasped as if to say this was going to stop me from hitting those children, you know.  But of course the children read this boy language and they could see that he didn’t have a physical presence and they were used to a physical presence, as I had been used to a physical presence.  And I felt as a teacher my physical presence was very important, and even though I’ve never hit anybody in my life, I think my physical presence gave the impression that I was someone who was capable of physical action, whereas with these middle class people I don’t think that was possible.  They could see it wasn’t possible, you know.  And so they realised that they weren’t streetwise and I often felt that the main ability I had of controlling classes was not so much my experience at university or any books I’d read, it was about the fact when I used to run the off licence and I used to have to deal with gangs of young lads who would hang round an off licence.  It was learning how to deal with them.  It was those skills I was able to take back into the classroom.  And again, one of the problems, you know, people become teachers far too early don’t they, that they either go … and they have had no real experience of life, of dealing with people and so they find it very difficult to cope.  
[0:28:06]
Did you find it easier to cope with youngsters who have had, you know, found it difficult to learn or were from hard backgrounds, difficult background?

[laughing]  No, no.  The easiest ones to deal with are the kids who are highly motivated.  That was the idea of course, you thought, you know, this is what you could offer and in a way you’ve got more chance of offering them something because of those difficult backgrounds.  But children from difficult backgrounds are difficult to teach wherever you come from really.  They are difficult to teach, full stop really.  And one of my regrets, looking back on my teaching experiences, is there are so few of those I got through to.  You know, I made my major impact on maybe middle class kids who are turned off education for one reason or the other and I was able to get them back on track again.  But the kids who came from very deprived backgrounds, it was very difficult, very difficult.  In many ways you felt that they were … if you did show them kindness and attention, initially they were grateful, but then they would sort of test you out to say, well just how much do you care for me, you know.  And they would go on like that and eventually they would push the boundaries so far that you respond and then they say, right that’s it, you’ve shown you don’t really care for me and then they stop working, you know, things like that .  A good friend of mine who was head of the special needs department and she was really passionate about getting through to these kids and you could see that time and time again they would do this to her, and she would treat them like they were her own children, but it made no difference.  It came to a point when they would push her too far, you know.  Anyway, that’s something else altogether.  So how did I …

I was asking you about your teaching approach and your path into history and things like that.

[0:29:56]

Yeah, yeah.  This is the lead on to that.  So because of the way I’d been taught history at school and how much I disliked it at school – I mean I disliked all subjects really, but I disliked the history – and because of the way I’d been taught history at university, it’d been done via sources, which was a completely new approach to me, and about interpretations of history.  You know, I mean at school you’re just told stories aren’t you, about what’s happened in the past.  There’s no place for you as a student in traditional history teaching, it’s just a question of listening to their stories and repeating their stories on paper.  But university, your opinions did matter in the sense that, you know, how do you interpret this source, how do you … do you agree with this interpretation of the past.  So that … what I tried to do was to introduce into the classroom the same way I was being taught, had been taught at the Open University.  And we had … the thing about the Open University when it first started was it attracted a lot of leading academics who were excited by the idea of having such a large audience, I think in a way.  So we had people like Arthur Marwick who would write the units and they would lecture at Summer School and things like that and they would produce television programmes.  So – and Christopher Hill was another one, Stuart Hall in sociology, he was one of the tutors there, one of the lecturers – so you were dealing with, you know, top ranking academics and obviously you knew you couldn’t do it at that level but I’d like to have thought that I could reinterpret it for a younger audience.  Now, anyway I was talking about how difficult it was to get a job because it’s related to this.  I went, I got, my first interview was at a school in Uckfield and when I got there, there was a history adviser, or he was a general adviser, a man called Doug Russell was on the panel, and it turned out, even though they wanted a historian, they also needed someone who could teach economics, which I had no experience of economics at all.  So I didn’t get the job, but afterwards this Doug Russell called me in and he said he had been very impressed with my interview and it was a shame that they needed someone to teach economics as well, and he said I would really like you to be teaching in my authority.  He said have you applied for the Heathfield job?  And I said I had, but I said I hadn’t got an interview because he said well, the interview is next week.  He said, well I’ll have a word with the headmaster and I’ll see if I can get you on the interview, to get you an interview.  Now as it turns out, I later learnt, there was 400 people applied for that job and the only way the headmaster could deal with such a large number, he only gave interviews to people who’d been to Oxford and Cambridge.  Now, what was … that was one factor, and the other factor that I wasn’t shortlisted was the head of department was about thirty-one, thirty-two and he said he didn’t want someone as old as me and he wanted someone who had been - I think this came out actually in the interview - he wanted someone young, straight from university he could mould, etc, you know.  And the school had been a secondary modern school and the comprehensive intake had just reached the sixth form and they recruited eighteen teachers, if I remember rightly, in that year and they were all to teach new sixth formers and the O level students.  So what they had, they had a staff, because it was a nice school, a nice environment, people didn’t move on from there, so they had a staff of people who had no experience of teaching O level students.  So they had to dramatically increase the number of people and as I say, most of them were Oxbridge people, but I think they had to compromise in things like the sciences and maths, which even in those days they were difficult to recruit from.  So I went for the interview and as it happens, one of the other women from the course, she’d been to Oxford and she was also public school educated and she spoke with a very upper class accent, she was also beautiful to boot.  And she told me before we were interviewed – and she was, she was probably about twenty-five, twenty-six – she said she had never failed an interview yet, everything she’d ever interviewed she’d got.  And we used to take the mickey out of her a bit on the course because she was so upper class in her accent.  Anyway, she got the job.  But as it happens, it turned out there were two jobs because at the last moment a history teacher had been seconded to do a course on environmental education or something, and so even though we didn’t know it when we applied, there was actually two places so I got the second job.  Which was only, initially only for a year while he was on this course.  But as it happens, oh I’ve heard some funny stories about this woman, but I think the headmaster actually fell in love with this woman, but she didn’t take up the job.  She was in love with a Frenchman at the time and when he heard that she’d taken this job he invited her to come and live in Paris and marry her.  
[laughs]  Oh dear.

And so she decided that … the head was absolutely furious and he said that he would, he would blacklist her, apparently.  And I actually met her many years ago in really weird circumstances.  I was invited to do some in-service in France and when this chap … the chap knew me through the internet and he was using my materials in Toulouse, at the International School of Toulouse, and he went to her and he said, oh I’d like to invite this chap, he said, he’s doing some interesting things, I’d like to invite him to do some in-service here.  And she said, oh I know him, and it was of course, it was this woman who didn’t take the job.  And she never married this Frenchman, but what she did do, she boycotted the state system and she was in the international school system, eventually became a head.  

[0:36:36]

So I got the job there but this head of department, as I say, he was a bit reluctant because of my age, he wanted a really young, as I say, a young person, somebody he could mould.  But he was quite progressive in his attitudes and he had tried to incorporate something called ‘What is History?’ – I don’t know if you know much about that – it had just been introduced.  But he was only dabbling with it, he was using the boy who was found dead and his wallet … 
Mark Pullen.

Mark Pullen.  The Mark Pullen exercise.  And used that and there was Tollund Man he used.  He just used a little bit, a few bits and pieces of it because the material I think had been used for … was being tested in private schools, the language level, most of the materials, were far above the head and they’d also – I think I might have mentioned this in the telephone conversation with you – but they didn’t want it to be political at the time and so it was very safe subjects they were trying for.  Or at least raising very safe issues with people.  So I looked at these and so I thought well this is a bit like what I’ve been doing at university, but the materials themselves, I mean one of the - as I said to you on the phone – one of the problems about the Mark Pullen exercise was the kids were always very disappointed when they found out he wasn’t a real person and they wanted to investigate real cases.  So what I thought I’d do, is I’ll produce my own teaching materials that would fit in with this approach about real mysteries.  And the first one was the Marie Celeste, which I think I must have read about it just previous to that and I got a couple of books out of the library on the Marie Celeste, and so I produced a booklet like the Mark Pullen thing, but with a real story and different types of sources; historians talking about it and firsthand accounts and things like this, physical evidence.  So I just did it as a little booklet and did that for the children and it went down very well and I started doing other things in the same manner.  And I became very interested in family history because my grandfather had been killed in the First World War and when my dad was killed I was given a plaque that his grandfather received – or he didn’t receive it, his family, his wife received it – about his death, and it always fascinated me as a kid, this plaque about my grandfather.  He had the same name as me, as did my father, you know, it was a tradition in those days to name the first son after the father.  And so I had this sort of fascination with that subject, so it was only sort of briefly touched on, the First World War, at university, but that became a very strong interest of mine and we taught about the First World War at school.  So did a booklet on the First World War and it was based on the idea of contemporary accounts.  It was based on the way the soldiers saw the war.  Very similar to, you know, this book that’s just been published on the D-Day and that’s the way he deals with it, I’ve just been listening to him talking about it on Radio 5, the idea of looking at the letters and the diaries of ordinary soldiers, rather than of the generals.  But that’s what I was trying to do in this booklet.  And so I produced this booklet and again, the kids seemed to get very interested in that.  And out of that, one of the things I did was … is the first simulation I ever did and so I gave everybody in the class a character from this booklet that I’d produced.  And then we put Sir Douglas Haig on trial for the Battle of the Somme, and so the kids, the person who played, say it’s Sir Douglas Haig, you know, would try to defend himself and there would be defence and prosecuting counsels and they cross-examined him in the witness box.  And the kids seemed to love all that sort of thing.  As I say, the only thing that was a bit disturbing, we had a teacher who was really a religious instruction teacher and she did a bit of teaching within the history department and I found one of her test papers, she’d created a test for her children that she taught and she asked them which general was tried [laughs], was on trial for the Battle of the Somme.  She’d taken it as being actually in reality.  So that’s a little bit dangerous isn’t it, about simulations.  
Did you do your own source work in finding diaries and …

[0:41:34]

Yes, yes I did.  I mean of that time I was relying on secondary sources, you know, I was getting books out of the library.  As I say, I was remembering the Sussex University library when I was a PGCE student and I kept my subscription up and I went there and so there would be, you know, Haig would have his war diaries and people like that and so I would use the war diaries.  But also I’d built up a collection of books written by soldiers themselves, firsthand accounts, and so I would use those, things like that.  And so I was doing that and that was about a year I suppose I was doing this.  At the same time, when I, as I say, Stephen Ball who recruited me from my interview, and then he became my supervisor and he at the time, he was doing a study into Lancing, into Boundstone, called Beachside Comprehensive.  Now his supervisor was Colin Lacey who’s Professor of Education at Sussex.   And in many ways it was work in the tradition of Colin Lacey’s book on Hightown Grammar, which is Manchester Grammar School.  And so the idea was that again, he interviewed the kids and a few of the staff and it was very much that approach, so it was very much contemporary account stuff, so this is the overlap with the history and the sociology.  And I had to do a special study and he said he was very impressed with it and he said I should turn it into a PhD and so I did, so as well as producing the materials at my first year at Heathfield, I was also doing a study.
Of?

[0:43:25]

Well it … as I say, I had to do, you know, after talking to Stephen Ball about my … I can’t remember what my special assignment had been about, but it was something about working class education, I think it was.  What I was looking at was the role the school plays in the development of political consciousness of the students.  Very controversial area.  And so I looked for … I did analysis of assemblies, I did an assessment of the measurements, techniques that were used in schools.  I also did a study of two particular groups in the school and they were very contrasting groups.  One was a group of working class lads who were in the sixth form, they were doing a one-year course, and they were people who’d done very badly at O level, but what they … but they were staying on for a year to top up, to try and improve their grades to be able to get into college or maybe go to work in a reasonable, interesting job.  And there was, clearly there was a leader of this group, called Stephen Lees, and I taught them all sociology.  But during that year they caused quite a bit of trouble because they were old enough and bright enough to know how the rules worked and how to get round the rules.  So for example, they still had uniform but there was no uniform rules about socks.  So what they used to do, they used to wear trousers pulled very high and expose bright red socks.  So … and they’d be constantly changing as they had to bring in new rules about the socks and things like that, you know, they would constantly be changing because they were bright enough to do that and they were doing it as a group.  And I remember the deputy head who dealt with discipline, it drove him absolutely mad about this.  And I taught them sociology and they really took to sociology because it was helping them to explain their own behaviour.  And so they were all … I mean they weren’t politically conscious in any way at all, but they all knew that the system was working against them and they wanted to get their own back on the system.  I mean they were more interested in getting their own back on the system than they was of getting qualifications, and I think virtually the whole of the group were actually expelled before the end of the year, they didn’t actually take their extra qualifications because they got them out because of it.  But I was one teacher they got on well with because I was useful to them I suppose, because I was helping them to understand the situation.  And I was also very informal with them and I didn’t take myself too seriously.  And in fact on one occasion I was called in by the headmaster to say there’d been complaints from other members of staff about me talking informally to this group in the corridor, and he said you must remember whose side you’re on.  And he said, you know, obviously this group were seen as a … it was like a resistance group, so the dominant ideology, and if I’d given the impression that I was on their side because I was being friendly to them.  Actually, I met up with this group later on, or certain members of the group later on after, well after they left school because I did tell then near the end that I had been doing this study on them and what I did actually, I gave them, each … the chapters I was writing about them as a group, I’d give it to them and they would then feed back their interpretation of what I was saying and in many cases disagreed with my interpretation of events.  And this Stephen Lees, I mean he was a very bright lad.  He was … what was amazing, must have interviewed him about three or four years later, or he came to see me.  He was working in the City as a banker.  
[both laughing]

Doing very well.  But he was saying how, you know, he still had this problem about uniform, you know, they insist on certain dress code.  But he was earning good money, he was willing to abide by the rules, you know, he was bright enough to know that.  

[0:47:47]

So that was that one group and then the other group was a group of sixth formers, very middle class sixth formers, taking A levels, you know, the sort of cream of the school, but they were very annoyed about the way they were treated in the school, they didn’t feel like they were given enough freedom.  And if you remember, this is the first of the sixth form group, the first of the comprehensive intake reaching the sixth form, and they heard from other schools about the way they were being treated and they didn’t have school uniform and they gave much more freedom with their study periods and this.  I mean I remember one of the big issues, well one was uniform, the other issue was about supervised study.  You know, when they had free periods they had to do it with a teacher watching them.  You know, it is crazy looking back on it, but …  So they got together and in fact they had a liberal head of sixth form had been brought in and he made the classic mistake of saying, well we’ll have a consultation committee, you know, you can elect a committee.  And of course they did and they put forward their proposals and the proposals were given to the head and the head said, close down the committee.  [laughs]  We’re not doing this.  And of course that created havoc and so these kids then became politicised by that.  So I was monitoring all this, I was interviewing them and observing what was going on.  So that was the basis of my study; these two groups and different ways that they were interpreting, as well as other factors.  

[0:49:17]

So I was doing that as a PhD, but because I got involved with this writing and then in publishing, I’d better tell you about the publishing really.  What happened, that Colin Lacey had been appointed as some sort of adviser to the Seychelles government and they had a socialist government installed in the Seychelle Islands, and he used to go over there on a regular basis.  And he was trying to advise them to develop a co-operative system of education and he wanted … so he thought it would be a good idea to set up a co-operative himself to see how it would work, it would help him with his advice to the Seychelles government.  But he didn’t know what he was going to do about … in fact he had no idea, so what he did was, he contacted members of his staff and - because he didn’t do a lot of teaching himself by that stage – and he said do you know any sort of people that will be sympathetic to a co-operative who have recently trained?  And he asked them all this question and Stephen Ball said he remembered me.  So he said … by that time I was working at his PhD student.  So anyway, he called a meeting and there were several people there and he said, you know, I’ve got this idea I want to run a co-operative but I don’t know what about.  So I suggested, well I said, I wrote these materials I said, maybe we could publish these, you see.  And so he said, well that’s a good idea.  And my brother, who was a very talented illustrator, and he had been writing materials in his own school, but he had had a mental breakdown and he was living with me at the time.  So he was invited to this meeting as well and he had drawings that he had produced for his own work and he showed them and everybody was very impressed with these drawings and they thought well, using these drawings and my booklets that I’d written, maybe we could publish them.  So eventually there was ten of us.  Stephen Ball actually dropped out fairly early on because he was completing his PhD and didn’t have the time to do it.  But I think there was about ten of us and I suppose there was only about three or four teachers in the group.
What, the rest being from Sussex?

The rest from Sussex University, yeah.  And so we set up this group and we all put a hundred pounds in, I remember.  This was the capital for the co-operative.  There was one chap who had no experience at all of education, in fact was working for a co-operative in Brighton, but he had been a former student of Colin Lacey’s, again a PhD student, but he hadn’t completed his PhD.  John Wootton, he was a member as well, but he was more in terms of advice about how to run a co-operative than it was about anything about the teaching materials.  And so the first two things we published was this contemporary accounts of the First World War and this Marie Celeste booklet.  And Colin Lacey, because he was quite well connected, he had written articles and things for The Guardian and Times Ed and things like this, he was able to get a couple of articles.  There was quite a large article in The Times Ed and in fact a small piece in The Guardian, actual Guardian about these materials, the booklets we produced.  And we were just knocked out by the number of orders we got for these books, it just took off.  So what was clear, that there was a major market for this material, but no-one was producing it, the big publishers hadn’t seen this market at all.

So it was fairly cheap production was it?

It was cheap production, yes, that would be maybe one of the attractions.  It was also … it was the time that photocopiers were just coming in and because of my brother’s line drawings and things like that, they made it very appealing with the photocopying, I think, of it.  But even so, we were selling class sets of them, it wasn’t just of individual copies and as I say, they were produced cheaply.  Even though we had a good mark-up, we were having probably a mark-up of five on the books.

So what year was it when you first produced those?

Erm … I’m just trying to think about it.  Most probably, by this time it might have been about 1979, 1980.

[0:53:55]

And that was Tressell was it?

And this is Tressell, yeah, yeah.  The name of Tressell comes from Robert Tressell.

Yeah.

Who …

The Hastings …

There was a local connection because I remember us sitting round, what are we going to call ourself, and again, I think it was me who came up with the idea of Robert Tressell.  But some people, it was after trestle table.  

[both laughing]

I mean, but it is a very loose connection with Robert Tressell, but that’s been voted recently as one of the most influential books of all time hasn’t it – novels - because it had such tremendous influence.  They took a group of famous people and asked what the most influential book was.  So we formed this Tressell Publications.  And so the sales were immense and it became a major problem because the whole thing was based in my house and we would meet once a week where we would discuss … because other people then started and one thing, teachers started sending in materials to publish.  People like Colin Lacey was very keen to write a book, not using the same style, but he wanted to write a book about the nuclear question, I think it was, nuclear power and nuclear weapons.  But they never sold well because it was done in a very academic style, it wasn’t really what teachers wanted.  But anyway, there was another member of the group who used to go on trips to the Western Front, school trips, and he had produced a series of worksheets and put them together to turn into a book and he said he could then sell them at the museums in France.  In fact they again sold very well.  Different market, he didn’t sell direct to the school because it was more selling direct to the museums.  And then I produced a whole series of books on this approach, contemporary account of the Second World War, contemporary account of the sort of the Industrial Revolution using the same approach and they were all highly successful.  I also did a series of things like the Marie Celeste as well, like the Bermuda Triangle I did, which was another big seller.  
And all the time you were a fulltime teacher as well?

I was a fulltime teacher, and so this is why I decided to cut short my PhD into an MPhil, because I got very frustrated about doing my PhD because I would come up with … I would say something, and in fact Stephen Ball would say, you’ve just found out what so-and-so found out in 1955 in his research, so you’d have to go away and read them and then incorporate into your findings.  Because he said you can’t say that unless you identify this person as finding out before you, you know.  So I got very frustrated because the distance between the academic world and the world of the classroom was so wide and I was getting much more pleasure from writing and dealing with the kids.  I was really into all the teaching when I started at Heathfield, because Heathfield was a lovely school to teach at because even though it had its … I suppose you could say it was very mixed really, I suppose, in a way, that most of the kids, a lot of the kids were middle class because it was quite an affluent area.  But you also had the rural population and the sons of the farm labourers and things like this, who were very easy going, but were not academically minded.  They were going to work on the land, sort of thing.  And you also had the working class estates which this Stephen Lees was part of.  But on the whole they were very … even the working class lads who weren’t really interested, you could get them involved, you know, they would give you a chance, which is probably not the case today, but …   And as I say, it was a very conservative school and they’d been used to very conservative teachers and for me to come along with trying out all my games and things like this, that appealed to them and so my relationship with them was very good and I found the whole thing very exciting to teach.
[0:58:02]
Did the head of department, he was happy with you doing games and simulations?

Yeah, this is the interesting thing about it, he was a man who wasn’t particularly bright.  He was not someone who … he couldn’t produce his own materials and his teaching was very poor.  He was an American, but academically he was very weak, I don’t know how he got the job.  He was … but he was a pleasant enough chap and he let me … and he would take the credit for it, you know, but, you know, it was something that was being produced by the department and he’d push this with the governors and things like this.
Were those materials and approaches you were using with O level classes as well as the lower school or just with the lower school?

Yes, eventually so.  I mean I initially started, you know, the ‘What is History?’ course which they did in year seven.  So I initially produced materials for that age group.  The First World War was done for year nine.  So – what about the upper school, what was those?  Yes, British social and economic history I was teaching wasn’t I?  So the Industrial Revolution was done for them.  Yes, it was going on all along the line, yeah.  Not – probably not for sixth form, even though … but by the sixth form you use source approach anyway, but I wasn’t producing material specially for them at the time.  There were, very dry books, but there were books available on primary sources for A level, so it wasn’t so … in a way, as I say, that’s what I was adapting really, that approach.  But they were incredibly dry.  So yes, I was still using the same approach, but a different level.  But Tressell, amongst history teachers became, you know, quite an important vehicle because there’d been nothing like us beforehand and because books at that time, teaching was very traditional.  There were two mainstream books; it was a book produced by Cootes, another by Snelgrove.  Cootes was for the less able and Snelgrove was for the academic ones.  And they’re both published by Longman and they just dominated the market.  And then they were … there was no sources in either of the books.  I mean the Cootes, I remember they had a good choice of photographs but again, very rarely would they use cartoons in their books.  So publishing was very different in those days.  So it was a really, I suppose a breath of fresh air.  And I suppose it mirrored what teachers themselves were doing in the classroom, but in a more professional way.  I think this, I mean this is often the feedback we got back, you know, they said … because they sent us their material.  And there were other people working in the same sort of area.  Most of the stuff we got sent was not good enough to publish, or if we did decide to work on it, in fact we came to the conclusion that it wasn’t a very good idea because it was far easier to get people within the group to write it than to negotiate someone who was teaching in Liverpool.  A chap from Liverpool sent us a booklet on the assassination of John F Kennedy and we thought the idea was good, but the materials were pretty bad and so my brother took it over and eventually ended up writing it, but of course the other chap got co-writer and shared the royalties.  But then you’ve got to negotiate with them what to include and what not to include, etc, and he wasn’t too bad, some of them take the view and say, just take it away and do what you like with it and pay me the money and put my name on the front cover.  But then you’ve got others who are very precious about it and say no, I’m not having you touch my work, not interfering with my work.  So it wasn’t easy using authors like that, so we tended … because I was so prolific anyway, you know, that most of the stuff was written by myself.  And my brother did a lot of the writing even though he was much slower than me at producing materials and I’d be able to try them out in the classroom.
So the materials were mainly source booklets, or were they seen initially as lesson ideas as well?

[1:02:24]

No, at this stage they would be … a bit like my Spartacus site really.  You would have a piece of narrative introduced it, giving a summary of something like, you know, something about say, trench warfare, explaining how it developed and what it was, and then you would have a series of accounts of trench warfare from the soldiers themselves and then there’d be questions based on those sources.  So you would have a source, say from a general talking about life in the trenches.  I mean I remember one source I used from Robert Graves who takes part in … he has to leave the trenches and attack, go across no-man’s land and attack the other trenches, and he comes back and he reports back to the general in charge, seven miles behind the line, to explain what had happened and how many men he had lost.  And they were having their lunch when he went to them and they seemed to be annoyed they had to interrupt their lunch, you know, and he debriefed them and as he goes to go out, he thought they were going to offer him some food but they don’t, and as he starts to go they call him back, after he told this horrendous story of all these people being killed and they said he wasn’t wearing his uniform right and he had to adjust his uniform.  And so you can use sources like that to realise the difference and then you get an historian writing about how never once did Sir Douglas Haig ever visit the front line, you know.  He would make all these decisions based on the information received from his junior officers.  So you would set questions like that about it.  And as I say, they sold tremendously.  They sold so well that we just couldn’t cope.  So instead of discussing booklets, we spent all our time packing thousands, you know.  So eventually we said we’ll have to start employing people.  So my brother, who had this breakdown and had been doing all this work free of charge, so he was an obvious person to employ. There was another chap, Les Coate, who was, had just finished an MA and had gone back to teaching and was hating it and he was desperate to get out, so he was employed. And then we had another person who was, again he had a breakdown and he couldn’t cope with teaching, so he became employed.  And the problem was, what we were doing, we were employing people, not the right people for the job but people that desperately wanted to leave teaching, which wasn’t a good long term idea.  It was still this co-operative principle we was running this based on.  And it was all based on one member, one vote, so if you became a member of the co-operative by paying a hundred pounds in, then that gave you one vote and so everything we decided, whether to publish a booklet, or how many pages that book should be, everything was done on a democratic vote.  And Colin wanted all this because he wanted to test it, how does it work in practice.  And as it turned out later I discovered, he was writing a book about the whole process.  And he had a bit of a writer’s block because he had written Hightown Grammar to great acclaim and I don’t think he had written anything since then, he’d got his professorship based on it because it was a breakthrough book, and I think he saw this as … he saw his follow-up piece of work.  Unfortunately it led to him leaving the group because I came up with the idea later on that we should write a book about our experiences of this co-operative and I suggested we all write a chapter each about different aspects of it, and he objected and he said, I’m writing a book about it.  You can’t have this book come out before my book comes out.  But by this time everybody liked the idea of writing a chapter and so he was outvoted, and he left in protest.
Did either book get published?

Our book got published, I’m not sure if … I don’t think his book ever got published, no.  Because I suppose he thought there was no point to it, you know.  And we actually gave it away free with orders for over a certain amount, so we moved a lot of copies of this book, because it was the ideas that was important.  And we thought, we saw it as a manual for other people to set up their own co-operatives, you see.  It was a book about how to establish a co-operative like that.  So he left the co-operative unfortunately.  He took some of … well at least two people with him, two people who were … one was his PhD student and the other one was someone I think who wanted to be romantically attached to him.  They weren’t, but she had a bit of thing about him I think and so they left with him.  So that reduced the numbers, but by that time we’d recruited a few more teachers in the classroom so the balance had changed, there was no academics left I think by this time.  By this time it was classroom teachers.  But we were now employing three people fulltime and that created problems in itself because those three people, especially Les Coate who had very strong feelings about the way the co-operative should be run, he would argue, if he was outvoted he would say this is unfair because this is my livelihood, it’s not just about your opinions, this is about my future.  So he thought he should have more than … his views should be more important.  And he became very commercially minded.  He wasn’t interested in experimenting, trying anything new, he just wanted to produce things that would sell in large numbers.  
[1:08:04]
Did you respond to the various syllabuses by looking for where you could, you know, meet more of the market need?

No, we didn’t, we didn’t feel the need to do that.  It was really based purely in, as I say, I just produced these books because that’s what I felt was needed in my particular classes and they sold in large numbers.  My books were always the biggest sellers, selling books.  Most of the books that were brought in from outside that we’d liked the idea … I remember there was one book by Stephen Johnson who eventually became, he’s headmaster of a school near here, he was headmaster at Ringmer and then he went on to become – Warden Park – headmaster of Warden Park he is at the moment.  He was just an ordinary teacher from Leicestershire, classroom teacher, and he sent us this booklet on statistics.  And it was a really good idea, good materials.  And we published that and we only probably sold a couple of hundred copies.  It didn’t fit in to the market anywhere.  It was done for his integrated managers’ course that he was teaching and so it bore no resemblance.  But we would make decisions, not based on the sales, just based on the idea of our belief in producing books like that.  So basically the money that was coming in was mainly, first of all the books I wrote, but then – which was next very important fact – was about computers and this related to a question you’ve asked about computer simulations.  You asked about why we were so hostile to computers.
[1:09:41]

Well what happened was that one of the books we produced, which didn’t sell tremendously well, was called Into the Unknown.  It was produced by my brother and it was based on something he had done when he was teaching and basically the children were given background information about exploration in the fifteenth century and about how the seamen went from Portugal and Spain, not knowing what they were going to find.  And what would happen was that children were put into pairs and one child would be given a grid and he would say, this is the way I’m going, and the partner in this would tell him what was happening on that particular grid.  Say it’s open sea and in fact we’re coming to land and then you leave land and then you have experiences … it was all based on these individual squares.  So today it sounds extremely boring, but kids seemed to like it at the time.  I used to use them in the classroom and the kids did find it very exciting.  So this headmaster of a school – in a primary school actually it was – had come across this booklet and this game and he came to see us and he said I think this will make an ideal computer simulation.  And at the time the computers we had were things like the Spectrum.  BBCB had just come in but I hadn’t seen a BBCB at this time.  So my idea of computers and the rest of the group’s ideas of computers was playing these mindless games on computers.

Mm.  Pac-Man etc.

Things like that, yeah.  We’re talking here again, it must have been 1981, something like that and I remember going, one Christmas, going to my brother-in-law’s and they had one of these computers and there was this game where this white, sort of like a disc used to go across and you would have to move it to see where it hit.  It was really one of those games, but there was something addictive about them, but I found it a bit worrying really, this idea of … because in fact one of the boys were there, younger boys, he must have been about thirteen, fourteen, playing this game and I remember feeling there’s something that is quite worrying about this addiction to this little silly, little silver thing going across the screen.  So that was our view of computers, so when he came with this idea and we said no, we don’t want to get involved with computers, we’re about producing books.  And I think even at that stage people were worried about the potential dangers of computers.  So he said, oh no, he said, there’s some really good computer packages out there, he said.  Some people are doing some really interesting things.  But as it turns out, that was an exaggeration because they weren’t, but there was one person - I don’t think … I can’t remember his name – but he was a head teacher at a school in the West Country and he produced something called Granny’s Garden and so he said, let me show you this program called Granny’s Garden.  And so we went into a school and saw them using this Granny’s Garden.  And it was very simple; it was an adventure game and you would have one screen and you would stay at this point and then you would go into Granny’s Garden and you’d have different experiences in this garden.  It was mainly to encourage people to write in a creative way.  As I say, it wasn’t brilliant.  I think the ideas behind it was quite good for the time anyway, because later I got to know this chap through letters and conferences and things.  And … but it was the impact it had on the children.  We saw the kids were quite absorbed with this.  So what we thought was quite mundane we could see that the children were excited by.  So we talked about it and my brother who had written the booklet, I mean he was, like me, was quite hostile to the idea, but after we saw this we began to talk about it.  And eventually we came to an overall decision, yes we’ll give it a try.  The problem is, you know, who do we get to program it?  Now this head teacher said, well I can do it.  So he took away the game, he said, and he would write the programme.  Anyway, we thought well we’ll have to advertise it, because one of the things we found out about selling things, that if we advertised something, because of our reputation, people would put orders in for it before they’d actually see them.  So we sent out advertising saying this is coming, it’s going to be our first [telephone ringing] computer game on BBCB.

[break in recording]

[1:14:34]

So we advertised this computer package, Into the Unknown, and we kept on going back to this chap and saying, you know, when’s it ready?  He’d say oh well, running a bit behind time, will take a few more …  And then it came to the date it was published and so all these orders started coming in, and one of the things we did, decided to do is, as I say, my brother was in charge of the project, wasn’t so keen on the computer side but he saw it as an opportunity to sell the back-up material which he had produced because when he had produced it there was loads of these work sheets, information sheets about exploration, so he thought this’ll be great to sell it as a package.  And at that time the government had decided they wanted to give computers a push in school and I mean my school I was teaching at, we didn’t have a computer, but especially in the primary schools they started, one computer per school.

Talking what, early eighties?

We’re talking about very early eighties, yes, ’80, ’81 sort of time.  So they’d given this grant the schools could spend, and it was quite a considerable sum as well, as long as it was computers, computer software.  So these people were getting this extra money and so they had to spend it on computer software.  So they thought well this is great, we’ll order this because it comes with all this paper material, which is really what they wanted.  So we were amazed by the orders we got for this package that hadn’t even been published and kept on chasing, and we got to the stage where it was due out and we still hadn’t seen it.  We hadn’t seen anything of it.  Anyway, we eventually went to see this chap and he told us, he wasn’t up to doing the job.  And what he was trying to do, he was trying to get other people to do it for him and then take some of the royalties.  So we were tearing our hair out, because what were we going to do, because all these orders and all this lovely money  [laughs] coming in, but we couldn’t bank it, you know, couldn’t do anything with it because we didn’t have it.  And there was one member of the group, he came in one Monday night, we used to meet every Monday night.  Terrible trauma, every Monday was discussing what we were going to do.  And he said, you know, I’ve been taking part in this conversation, he says, I thought I’d go away and teach myself how to program.  He said, I’ve done this.  And he … but he was a genius in choosing computer programs.  He had no idea, but because he knew that we needed someone to do it, he’d gone away and did it. And he didn’t even have a BBC computer, he did it on another computer altogether so then he had to translate it over to a BBC … we had to buy a BBCB for him to translate it over.  And it was just amazing, so he actually produced a program and so it was about six months late or something like that it eventually went out.  And people were just knocked out about it.  There were certain, you know The Times Ed and there were certain specialist magazines starting the same time, and I think it was voted the best computer package of the year.  And we just sold loads and loads of these things.  And we suspect that a lot of them wasn’t actually ever used for their computer programs, they would just use the back-up materials because you could say that to head teachers, you’ve got this extra money but you’ve got to spend it on computer packages, they would spend it even if they’re never going to use it on the computers.  And I can’t remember where I got this from, whether it was someone who told us this or something, but they said about so many of our computer … the computer programs were locked away and never came out of the cupboards, but they were using the actual back-up material.
Do you think that’s because only one individual could use the computer at a time?

[1:18:33]

Yeah, there were lots of technical problems about it, because as a result of this being published, then I produced a package called Attack on the Somme, followed it up, which was then programmed by another member of the group who taught himself how to program.  I mean it is quite mind-boggling really, this actually happened, looking back on it.  I’ll tell this story even if it seems hard to imagine.  We had two people in our group who both taught themselves how to program and they were both very good programmers.  This was the amazing thing about it.

They were teachers as well?

They were teachers, oh they were history teachers.  One was teaching at Hazelwick and another one was teaching at Willingdon, local schools.  And both of them had breakdowns.

Over that? Over doing that job?

Well, they partly blame that, yeah.  I mean Alistair Pike, who did the program for Into the Unknown, and so … because he was so good we employed him fulltime as a programmer, or Tressell did.  And then later on down the line he got this writer’s block, he just went … what happened, the BBCB was 32k and then it went up to 64k and then I think it was 128k and when they had larger memories and they had different types of programming skills, he eventually got to the stage where he couldn’t actually do it any more, but he didn’t tell them he couldn’t do it any more and he kept on saying, oh it’s going to take me longer and longer and eventually cracked under the strain of it all.  And the other chap developed ME and he had to give up teaching for a while.  He’s now back teaching but he doesn’t go anywhere near computer programming.  But he broke his back as well.  There’s something about computer programming that does that to you, and it’s very much a young man’s game.  In fact later on, when I left Tressell and I started Spartacus, I … my programmer was a fourteen year old lad, who was fantastic, who now works for Microsoft in America, having got a PhD in artificial intelligence.  He was the brightest lad I’ve ever taught, but he would just … I would give him a script about what I wanted and he said well, that’s never been done before but I’ll see what I can do, and he used to do it.

So he was a pupil of yours …

Pupil of mine.

…and he was working for you doing programming?

Yeah, on a … he got a royalty for it, yeah.  Yeah, in fact when I first went on the internet, I typed in Spartacus Educational to see if there was any reference to me and number one was this boy’s CV.  [laughs]  He said in his CV, I produced computer programs, I wrote computer programs for Spartacus Educational.  I’m still in contact with him.
[1:21:29]

So how did you come to form Spartacus Educational?
Oh yes, yeah well it carries on from this.  So the computer packages sold in very large numbers and to people like Les Coate who was … Alistair Pike had been employed fulltime in this, course they wanted to keep on producing more and more computer packages and book publication then became secondary.  And … which was a shame because they had sold, always sold very well and they were still selling well.  And I felt we were losing our radical edge really, that we should have been pioneering other forms … I mean I wasn’t against computers by this stage, as I say, when I formed Spartacus I still produced computer programs, but I thought we needed to keep on publishing books.  There were also other issues.

[1:22:25}

Break in recording – section embargoed until 2042.

[1:22:40]

So there was big debates going on and Les Coate continued, constantly argued.  I suppose in a way by this time Tressell, there were two main leaders I suppose: myself and this Les Coate.  And Les Coate kept on saying, well I’m employed fulltime, it’s my livelihood at stake.  And so, you know, my opinions should be weighted more.  And overall, the majority of people supported me, but it was a very awkward relationship now and so I thought the only thing to do really is to start my own company and – I was still teaching fulltime – that I can sort of fulfil my own ideology.  And I did that and a lot of the other members also left at the same time.

So what year was that?

This must have been 1984 I think it was.  I think it was 1984, yes 1984 this was.  But Tressell at the time was doing very well in terms of income, it was a well established company.  And also I had argued that even economically I didn’t think it was such a great idea to concentrate so much on computer packages because we would become so dependent on this government grant that was still going and that when this government grant stopped, I wasn’t convinced that teachers would continue to spend their money on computer packages.  Because – that’s the other thing I should say to you – that because with the success of Into the Unknown, specially Attack on the Somme, because I’d designed that, I was asked to do a lot of in-service training and I was spending lots of time and it was causing problems actually with my head teacher, so much of my time they wanted me to spend doing this in-service training.  But then … I was also health and safety rep, NUT rep and health and safety rep at my school.  We had an asbestos problem in the school and that was reported first of all by the wife of the caretaker who’d been taken to hospital suffering from an asbestos related disease, and a colleague of his had gone down with the same disease a year or so beforehand.  So they were suspicious that there was some sort of asbestos exposure in the school and they feared it was in the boiler room, and anyway, I raised this with the staff, but they had inspectors came in and sure enough they found it not only in the boiler room, but they also found it in the boys’ toilets.  Anyway, the teachers – I was the leader I suppose of this - and I had to represent them and we were trying to get the school closed so that it could be sorted out because we thought all of it was far too dangerous.  But as it turns out, the union official came down to us and said you can’t get … the government will never … this is a problem all over the country, because there were so many schools built after the Second World War when they used this asbestos, and he said it’s got to be kept quiet.  And members of staff were leaking the story to the local press and they wouldn’t touch it.  It was all covered up.  So eventually they said well, all the repair work will be done but it’ll be done in the summer holidays and they said, how would you like to take a year off?  And so they offered me an MA at Sussex, to do an MA – fully paid – at Sussex.  And I was doing so much of this in-service I thought well this’ll be good, I can do this MA.  And it … I got on quite well with the head, but it was on the understanding that I would find a job, you know.  I was looking for a head of department job anyway and this chap who was above me wasn’t going to move on, so I did a year at Sussex and did a tremendous amount of in-service during that year.  And then at the end of the year I got a job of head of department in Brighton, close to where I lived, so everything worked out alright really.  Even though I loved teaching at Heathfield.  So I was doing a lot of in-service and I was experiencing the problems about teachers using these computers, because you had several problems.  One was that you only had one computer in a classroom, if you were lucky.  So this is why the computer packages worked so well, so while they were doing the back-up material, work on the back-up materials, then they took it in turns to be on the computer.  But it wasn’t easy to organise in the classroom.  Teachers themselves had no experience of using computers in the classroom.  Some were now starting to use computers for doing their notes and things like that, but to actually use computers as a teaching tool, they found very difficult.  But I found if you did the in-service with them, and a lot of the advisers, what they did, you know, they would come to me and say we’d like you to give us a three-day course, all of my heads of history, what do you suggest?  And so I would suggest an approach, you know, how we would spend the three days, but also that we’d arrange at the end of that three-day period that you were given the computer packages that you’d been working on so that they had experience of using them themselves and they could go into the classroom and use them.  And it was all sort of tied in with the idea of making sure that head of department had access to a BBC computer in his department, because often that wasn’t the case, you see.  So if all these things came together, then you had some success of making it long lasting.  So that worked quite well.  I went all over the country doing that.  And often ended up with them buying Tressell packages as well at the same time, you know, for the teachers.  

So there was a range of packages available?

[1:29:00]
By this time yes, there was quite a few of these packages.  After the Attack on the Somme I did something called Wagons West, which I designed.  See, I used to design the programs, David used to do the illustrations – my brother did the illustrations – and then Mark Ellison and Alistair Pike used to do the computer programming.  And they were pioneering stuff and I’m very proud of what we were doing, even though I did feel we went overboard with it.  So they were the main, they were the first three packages that we sold in very large numbers.  And so I think that was one of the problems, but those problems could be overcome.  But one of the other problems about computers in the classroom is that teachers need to be constantly updated on the skills needed.  So I mean there’s been research carried out into this, that … I read, must have been about three or four years ago, where they said that teachers were less confident of using computers in the classroom than they had been ten years previously.  And the biggest complaint they had, being they hadn’t been updated.  And so when they finished these courses, you know, these three-day courses, they would go into the classroom and they’d be very enthusiastic.  I mean I used to tell them that, you know, one of the problems, you’re going have kids in the class who appear to know a lot more about it than you, but you should make one of them a monitor and work as a partnership like that, and I think on the whole that worked for them.  But it was a problem about new stuff came out and you have to update it.  So I broke away and formed Spartacus and, as I say, other people left, but they just left, they didn’t join me as such because I mean at the time I didn’t really want them, there wasn’t anything for them to do as such, because I was going to do most of the writing to start off with.

[1:30:58]

Was it your intention to do mainly textbooks or to …
No, no my intention was to still have the computer packages, or not so much packages with me, in my case, with computer programs.  No I still believed strongly in it.  My philosophy with the computer, because I designed two of the three programs anyway, that wasn’t a source of conflict, nor was the back-up materials.  The source of conflict was the over-emphasis on computers.  But this was 1984 and it was the introduction of GCSE and I actually again, I’d been … they had been deeply influenced by the materials we’d been producing, even though it had been watered down to a certain extent at GCSE, and so, you know, they would use just maybe one sentence, quote from a source and things like that.  And the source questions were really, again, filling in the gaps.  You know, they were closed questions and things like this.  But at least there was that approach to it.  And when it was coming in and we saw the syllabuses and saw the approach, when you saw specimen exam papers, I could see that no-one had been publishing books at all like this.  Even the Tressell booklets hadn’t been in line with it, so I decided that I would publish a series of booklets for GCSE, the world history course was my first idea and I produced, I think it was twelve booklets, on different parts of the Russian Revolution, one on Hitler’s Germany, things like this.  And – Evidence and Empathy I called them – and which would be a piece of narrative and then some sources.  And I think there was about ten units in each booklet.  And I got them out, because I knew time was everything and you see, big publishers find it very difficult to get things out quickly.  I mean they’ll always … I mean a friend of mine in publishing told me that they used to work on a two-year advance programme, you know, for these books.  So they brought this GCSE in quickly, I knew that they’d be slow getting things out and I also knew the government were giving these grants to the schools to spend on it and the books wouldn’t be available.  So I made sure my books were out on time and I mean I sold a fantastic number of them, as you can imagine, because I already had a reputation for Tressell.  And … but I was selling so many, but … so by 1987 I had to give up teaching because I … it was just me and my wife really, doing it, and she couldn’t cope any more on her own and finding the time to write these books, and so I … and I was doing it …  And the more I did, I started moving into other areas and recruiting teachers: geography teachers, English teachers, maths teachers even.
What, to write the textbooks for their own subject areas?

For their own subject area and to incorporate the new ideas that were coming in with GCSE.  They all sold, but they didn’t sell as well as mine because I suppose they didn’t have the reputation and whereas I found it easy to sell them to history departments because they knew of my work, it was more difficult to sell into geography departments and English departments, etc.  But they still made money, they still sold pretty well.  And they had sold better than the outside authors had sold at Tressell, so … so it went very well.  So for the first five or six years we made a lot of money.  Unfortunately, the accountant said, you know, you’re paying so much tax on this, you should really buy a property, a warehouse to store them, because at the time I was just renting space from my printer so we were having to sort of organise the packing and everything from my printer’s place.  And we never employed anybody else other than the two of us because one of the problems we felt with Tressell had been, after I left and lost all sort of control over Tressell, they just employed people, person after person.  They were employing about ten or eleven people, which was absolutely ridiculous.  And so when this computer packages grant came to an end they were finished, they went bankrupt.  You just couldn’t do that.  But as I say, they had no business sense at all.  Unfortunately my brother’s still paying off the debts of the company.  I mean he’s just, in fact he’s just paid it off because he downsized his house and so … to pay off his debts.

Is that because he stayed with it and you …

[1:36:06]

Yeah.  Well I came out of course and I got my hundred pound back so I had no financial involvement at all.  And of course it created a bit of bad feeling between people like Les Coate because I was now a competitor in the marketplace.  And I was able to … he now had completely full rein to run the business as he wanted to and of course he ran it into the ground, as I suspected he would do, and so it went bankrupt and they lost a lot of money over it.   But I mean that’s the way of the world isn’t it?  But he was never a very shrewd businessman you see, but he wanted to be in charge and that’s the way it goes.  And as I say, I’m not really a shrewd businessman really but … I’m more interested in the ideas of things than the actual … but I do know enough not to … you can only afford to take so many risks and you get it.
Also, you were very much in touch with what teachers were wanting in history books.

Because I was still in the classroom, yes, which makes a big difference, yeah.  So obviously I’ve got the problem when in 1987, when I leave the classroom, about whether you keep in touch.  I did a lot of in-service which I think obviously helped me a great deal.  And I was also then recognised as being a bit of an authority on that approach, so when they introduced the national curriculum – was it ’87, ’89?  

Well, really from 1990, the statutory …

Yeah, it came in in 1990.  But, you know, when they first established their ten man, or ten people committee.

Yeah, 1989, yeah.

It was 1989 was it, yeah.  I was on an advisory committee for that committee.  Not that they took any notice of us but … I used to go to meetings and things like this.  I was very involved in all that and I did a lot of in-service with someone like Chris Culpin who was at the … who was I think Director of the Schools Council by this time.  And the Schools Council had come on a lot.  In a way I think what we had produced influenced them and they did a contract with Murray’s, didn’t they, John Murray, and their books are very good and so I think we obviously, we learnt from each other and moved on.  But Chris Culpin, I used to get to do a lot of in-service for him as well.  Obviously do joint in-service stuff.  So I was still doing a lot of that and I was still doing some in-service on the computers as well, but it’s more …  I was also very involved in the introduction of the GCSE, I was doing in-service courses for that again, advice I was bringing in because I was producing these books, you know, that I would know more about what was going on.  And teachers were very uncertain about it all and I think the idea of a teacher in the classroom giving … they thought that that would be better for them.  So I was doing a lot of in-service, it was keeping me in touch with things.  So we was doing so well, also you know, as I say, when we bought the property, but as soon as we bought the property it was Black Wednesday, Black Thursday, whatever it was.  The interest rates went up and so we found that virtually overnight we were doubling how much we were paying for this in repayments.  And at the same time, I think I told you about this before … the other thing, I should say before I bought the property, I decided to keep on experimenting.  I developed this thing called The Yalding Project which took me well over a year to write.
What project?

Yalding Project.  I haven’t told you about this?

No.

Oh, no.

How do you spell it?

[1:39:47]
Yalding.  It’s named after a village, Yalding in Kent.  Yes, because money wasn’t a problem because I was selling so many copies of the GCSE books, I thought it would be a good idea to start sort of pushing the boundaries and to create something called The Yalding Project, which was an attempt to … in fact, saying this, this is after the National Curriculum isn’t it, because it was based on the response to the National Curriculum, so it was actually after we bought the property.  Yes anyway, the National Curriculum came out and also yes, the National Curriculum, the same thing happened as with GCSE, I knew that the publisher would be slow and again the schools were given lots of money to spend on the books.  So I was the first publisher out and again we did fantastic business with that as well.  I mean, and looking back on it they were probably a bit too rushed, I was probably taking … I was so keen to get it out.  The timelines we had, you know, the timescale was very narrow, it was very difficult for us to get the books out in time.  And as I say, I did much better than all the major publishers.

How would you design the books?  I mean you obviously had all the specifications but you had to look at that and then mould the stuff so that it met the National Curriculum.

Yes, that’s what I mean, you remember that there was ten levels of attainment, you know, and then those ten levels were broken down.  So it was a nightmare actually doing this.  I mean so this was very controlled on your creativity.  I mean you were still using your creativity but you’re using your creativity to find ways around these parameters as being set by the government.  And of course a lot of it didn’t make sense.  I mean there’s no way you could fold things up into ten levels of attainment, it was complete nonsense, but you were having to try and do that.  So what I did, I produced the books, I set the questions and next to the question I put down the actual level that could be achieved and then I also produced teachers’ books to go with them as a commentary to the teachers, saying this is how they get this level and I was giving them commentary on the sources because one of the things I found when I was going round doing the in-service, teachers were saying, oh this source is fascinating, and they would ask me questions about it.  And I realised that there was a market really for me to produce a teachers’ book so that they could actually tell these funny anecdotes and linked up their work, so they could come over as the expert, rather than the book.  And so these teachers’ books sold really well as well.  [laughs]  It’s another thing I think I started, but eventually all the major publishers did the same thing because teachers wanted these teachers’ books to go with them, so that again, they took ages to write as you can imagine, you know.  So I got that and so we had this period of great success and … but then the money was put into this warehouse, this large warehouse we bought and then we had Black Wednesday or Thursday, whatever it was and interest were going up.  And at the same time they were bringing in colour printing and Murdoch had bought Harper Collins and he decided he was going to dominate educational publishing and they thought the way to do it was through colour textbooks.  And he used his contacts and had them printed in the Third World.  And as … like with his newspapers, he starts off by selling them below cost and so overnight these books appeared which were cheaper than anything else that was available on the market, but in colour rather than black and white.  So … and he got the top people like Chris Culpin to write them as well.  So there was nothing … the sales just went.  And with the National Curriculum went, especially the Ofsted inspectors as well coming in, teachers became quite nervous about using materials of a radical publisher. They realised, they felt it would be safer in the inspection if they were using conventional textbooks of the major publishers.  Because they were saying … because they weren’t sure whether they were doing it right or not and they would say, what I’m doing is, I’m following that textbook, you know.  If I’m doing it wrong, so hundreds of teachers throughout the country were buying these same textbooks. 
Were you known as a radical publisher then?

[1:44:34]

Yes, yes.  I mean the Spartacus Educational, the reason I chose the name Spartacus was the idea of the, you know, the sort of the slave revolt, the idea that I was a small publisher taking on the multinationals, you see.  Yes, I was known to be a radical in my views.  And so people got very nervous at that time, you know, especially about the Ofsted inspections.  It’s quite interesting, I generally read the Ofsted report for history teaching.  I don’t know if you get … do you ever read any?  One of the things they say is that lessons, so many of the lessons are so boring because the teachers just use the textbook.  But the reason they use the textbook is because they’re nervous about using any other.  So I … at the back of my head, you know, I’ve got a little voice in my head to say that, you know, despite the success you’re having, you’ve got to keep on pushing the boundaries. And so I thought Yalding would be this perfect way of doing that and developing a course that would last at least two terms and the Medieval Realms course, year seven.  And it would be based on a simulation where every child in the class would become a character who lived in the fourteenth century.  And they were actually real characters who actually lived in the fourteenth century, they lived in the village of Yalding.  And so the reason I chose Yalding, there was two reasons.  One, it was owned by the de Clare family and the de Clares come over with William the Conqueror.  At that time they’re Fitz Gilberts and he was the half-brother to William the Conqueror, also, you know, born out of wedlock.  And so they were great friends and he was, one of his leading knights and so when they cut up Britain, he was one of the main landowners. And Richard Fitz Gilbert, later given the title of the Earl of Clare, owned Yalding.  And so what I did, the first part of the material looks at the Fitz Gilbert’s history and his family’s history and the role he played in the Norman invasion and it follows it up to the 1340s.  And what is interesting about that particular period is that, well, through that, at the point that the family start their power struggle with the king.  Now, the Fitz Gilberts and the de Clares became the, probably the leading opponent of the king or the biggest threat to the king and so they played a very important role in the, signing the Magna Carta.  And there were a whole series of skirmishes until eventually they were wiped out, there was only one son left and it was arranged for him to take part in the Battle of Bannockburn and he was sent into a suicide mission, he was killed.  And then the king married off his three sisters to loyal knights of his and it was a way of dealing with them as a power.  But … so the children have this history of the family and then Yalding, one of his villages, is then looked at.  And the reason I chose Yalding is because it’s probably the best we’ve got, the best recorded village we have.  More of the manor records survive of Yalding than anywhere else.  And so each child becomes a character who lives in Yalding.  And they then go through a series of problems really.  Each person is given a certain amount of land.  They’re told whether they’re free or whether they’re a serf.  They’re told how many dependent relatives they’ve got, how many animals they’ve got, what equipment they’ve got, etc.  And they’re then put into groups, tithing groups, which was the case, which is a social control part of the feudal system.  It is that you would have a tithing leader and he would organise the labour done on the lord of the manor’s land, and because they had to supply their own equipment, they didn’t have the animals and equipment necessary as individuals, so they put them into tithing groups to make sure they had the necessary equipment.  And then he would arrange for them to do their labour, their labour that they did free of charge, to the lord of the manor.  And they would also, as a control device if say, one ran away, then the tithing leader and the rest of the tithing group would be punished.  So there was a sense of responsibility to the tithing group, so that’s one of the reasons they didn’t run away very often.  So the children were also organised into tithing groups.  And the way I organised it, so I would say to the teacher in the teachers’ booklet, this person is someone who needs to be intelligent, or be good at maths, or he might be very articulate because they’re going to have to appear in a simulation later on.  This one, less able, but because they’re in that group the others will help that child, you know.  So this is learning about differentiation, which was a big thing about the National Curriculum, came out.  And they go through a series of experiences which leads up to the peasants’ revolt.  And of course there’s the Black Death and no-one in the class actually dies of the Black Death, but you know, obviously I play around with the facts and figures.  We don’t know if the people in Yalding - other than the vicar who died - we don’t really know about individuals who died then by that stage.  But … because I mean all the manor records, they’re very fragmented, so even though you’ve got the names of people, they appear here and there and the same names carry on.  I mean one of the things, one of the names I used was Singyard, which comes from the idea of singing in the yard.  It’s a very unusual name and in fact there’s very few Singyards in the country.  But there was some were called Singyard in Yalding from Domesday period, when they did the Domesday survey, right up until … someone was killed in Yalding, name of Singyard, in the Second World War. There’s a memorial to them and you can go into the churchyard and see that Singyard.  And so one of the things we used to do was take the kids to the village to see those things.  One of the things we have in there is about the common land, arguments about the common land.  And there’s still the common land in Yalding today and they hold their fairs there, which dates back to the fourteenth century.  And the reason that was given to them as the common land, because it constantly flooded, so they couldn’t use it as farmland, so it was used as the common land.  And Yalding still gets flooded because it’s a place where two rivers meet and it’s a constant problem in Yalding.  So you can take them back and you can see the links between the past.  It’s a very powerful … it’s the most successful thing I’ve ever done.
Is that computer software and …

[1:52:24]

No.  It’s nothing to do with computers at all, this one.

That was materials?

It now exists on the internet and it’s given away free to any teacher who wants to use it, but no, it was just purely in book form.  But the kids love it.  What happened was that I went back into teaching just so I could try this material out.  And the sales had gone down anyway, so I think it was a way of earning a bit of extra money as well.

So what year was this?

What year would this have been?  About 1994?  Must have been round about ’94, ’95 maybe.  So I developed this and it worked really well with the kids.  I was teaching in a very conservative school – this was in East Grinstead – and … but the head of department let me do what I wanted to do with them and the pressure from the kids were saying, why can’t we do what Mr Simkin’s doing, was so great that eventually the whole of the department did it and it was a great success with them as well.  And they still do it as far as I know.  But it was a financial disaster, it didn’t sell.  It was too advanced for its time.  But as I say, I’ve now put it on the internet and it’s free for anybody who wants to use it.  And I think it is a way, should have been a way ahead for teaching.  And I also did, used the same approach, even though I didn’t produce any materials nationally for it, on East Grinstead.  I did a study of East Grinstead in the … what we had to do in … at GCSE, we had to do a local history project and nobody else in the department was interested in local history, so I said, oh I’m interested in local history, I’ve always done local history wherever I’ve taught.  So I said can we do women’s rights, because I’ve always been interested in the subject of women’s rights.  In fact the first thing I did on the internet was a section on women’s rights.  And so we looked for the struggle for the vote in East Grinstead, which is absolutely fascinating.  I found the relatives of several people involved in that struggle.  Absolutely … the son and daughter – and they were …  What would happen, there was a family called the Corbetts, who was a Liberal MP in 1906, the only time that East Grinstead have ever had a Liberal MP, it’s always been Conservative.  And his wife was an early suffrage supporter and she had two daughters and both the daughters became involved in the struggle: Margery and Cicely.  And Margery died at ninety-nine, and so she was involved in the struggle right up until she was ninety.  She was involved in a protest march on women’s rights, the Thatcher government, and she was the only one there who had been involved in the struggle, you know, at the beginning of the century.  But the research was mainly done via the East Grinstead Observer, the letters columns.  But I traced … it was Marie Corbett, was this wife of the MP.  Her husband, he was one of the leaders of the Men’s League of Suffrage – there was a men’s group.  She, as I say, she was active in the Suffrage Union and I traced one of the daughter’s - Margery’s - her son.  I traced Cicely’s daughter and granddaughter.  The … it was a chap called Edward Spear … Edward Steer who was head of the Salvation Army in East Grinstead and the Salvation Army formed an alliance with the Suffrage Union in East Grinstead to campaign for the vote in return for campaigning against [telephone ringing] drinking alcohol.  So you had … so I found Edward Steer’s grandson who had lots of photographs and documents.  The Corbetts, they had diaries of the time, letters sent at the time, and they gave me all these details.  So I created a page on the internet and incorporated them into this simulation we did.  So, we did this unit and every person in the class was a character from East Grinstead at that time, either for or against the women’s rights, because the group against them was led by a woman called Lady Musgrave, who was one of the leading figures in the Anti-Suffrage Union, which was very active in East Grinstead.  The editor of the East Grinstead Observer was a staunch Tory, was also very opposed.  And because there was a big debate in the East Grinstead Observer about – in the letters column – about not giving enough space to the Suffrage Union.  Of course what he did give a lot of space to was the suffragettes when they arrived on the scene, because there were several suffragettes living in the area, including the woman who was arrested more times … who endured more hunger, refusing to eat campaigns than anybody else, Kitty Marion, Kitty Marion.  She lived in Hartfield, which is just outside East Grinstead.  So they played all these different characters and so they were involved in the debate and we then took it into looking at things like the building of the … What had happened was that East Grinstead was divided between the nonconformists and the Church of England, and the nonconformists were Liberal supporters and Edward Steer was nonconformist as well.  And they were very much against the idea that the Conservatives dominated the town so there was this struggle between them and often many of the leading businessmen were nonconformists and they were Liberals.  And there was a big issue about burial.  There was no place to bury the nonconformists and one of the nonconformists was quite a large landowner and he gave over his land to … he said he’d be willing to use it as a park and as a cemetery – half park, half cemetery.  Because the other big issue was the motorcar in East Grinstead, there were a series of accidents in East Grinstead, cars going too fast through East Grinstead and children playing football in the streets were being killed.  And, because children were allowed to play out on the streets you see, and all of a sudden it became a danger, it became dangerous.  So this Edward Steer said what we need is a park for the children and so he arranged for the land to be donated, as I say, half park, half cemetery and the council turned it down because they said the upkeep, they weren’t willing to pay the maintenance on it through the rates, even though it was being given free.  And there was a long struggle till eventually in 1906 when they also got a Liberal council, because there was division in the Tory party and there was a big swing in support.  And so at last they got their …  And of course you tell kids about this and they’re absolutely fascinated because Noddy Park is still there, so the fight that went on to get that park for the kids, you know, and the cemetery.  You go to the cemetery, at the top of the cemetery there’s Edward Steer, you know, he’s overlooking everyone.  So it’s a fascinating … kids can relate to that, you know, that approach to history teaching.  So I’m not sure what part …
[both laughing]

I wanted to ask you whether you felt that history teachers had become too over-reliant on computer based approaches to teaching now?  I mean it is very technological, the classroom now, isn’t it?

[2:00:37]

I don’t know. If you look at the internet, because I don’t suppose they use computer packages in the classroom now.  I mean I had an email the other day from a student who was emailing on behalf of his history teacher, who many years ago used to use Into the Unknown, or no, Attack on the Somme it was, Attack on the Somme on the BBCB and he’s still got the BBCB program but he would like to use it now on his PC.  Is there a PC version?  There are some pirated versions I believe, but I never published any.  So I’m not sure how many computer programs are actually used in that way.  I think probably we’re totally dependent on the internet now aren’t we …

Yeah.

…in terms of simulations.  So I was one of the first people in the country to have a history website, in terms of history teaching, I probably, I was the first.  It was September 1997.  So I was teaching at Sackville then, because I remained in teaching.  Initially I did it just for one year, but actually again, it got me hooked again and as I say, because I could do with the money now because the business wasn’t doing that brilliant.  So basically, what happened was that I went – I will get back to your original question – because of this printing in colour, I did, instead of saying right, I’ll pack it in, get out, take my money, I decided to compete with them and so I started having books printed in colour.  And of course you had to have very large print runs to do that.  And even though they sold reasonably well, the profit margins were much less than they had been.  But also you had this problem about stock, the size of the stock now, because when it was black and white I used to have 3,000 copies done.  Now I’m having 10,000, 20,000 of colour books and of course it takes some time to sell that sort of number.  And so soon I had a warehouse full of colour books, you know, and hundreds of thousands of pounds tied up in stock.  So I got to the stage where I couldn’t afford to publish any more new books, so it was a question of running them down.  So, as I say, I’d gone back into school teaching and I was enjoying it, I just carried on.  And I was still doing a lot of writing, but I was mainly doing writing for my own kids again, that’s how I started.  So when the internet came out, I thought well the obvious thing to do is to put these things on the internet, which I … I taught myself how to create pages on the web.  I’m not a technological person really so that was quite a struggle, but luckily I found the right sort of software, so I was able to do it.  And so because I was one of the first and because it was free, I soon developed a loyal readership again.  It’s a bit like the early days of Tressell really.  And I wasn’t making any money out of it but I was getting a loyal following and the profits from it came much later.  So I started doing it.  My first section was on East Grinstead and these … this women’s course, that was the first thing I put on there, online.  So again, it was great for kids at schools teaching in that part of East Grinstead, but for outsiders it would have had far less relevance of course.  But also I did pages on people like Emily Pankhurst and Christabel and people like that, so there was a national use as well for this.  

Did you have any sense of how many people were using the site?  I mean obviously …

[2:04:24]

No, not initially I didn’t.  You would have an email address.  One of the things I did when I started the site, was I sent out a free mouse mat to every school in the country as a free gift and I said, you can go to this site and get all these free materials, you can do what you like with it.  By that time I knew that I wasn’t going to make much money in books in the future so it was just giving a free gift.  I mean to me, the internet was magical because you could give away all these materials free of charge and very little cost to yourself.  I did do a sponsorship deal with a local internet provider who was trying to get into the schools market and he paid for all – and they still do – they paid for all my internet costs, so there was no cost for me at all in this.  So that was fine, but I was giving the material free of charge.  And so I sent these off to people, because at that time most people didn’t have the internet but they kept them and as the internet came on board they would go to my site and so for a couple of years there was very little else for schools to use.  They did some sort of survey, the … what do they call them … is it the Fischer Trust?  

Oh yeah.  Fischer Family Trust.

[2:05:37]

That’s right, yeah.  They did a study of use of technology in schools and they found that history teachers were more likely to use my website than any other, including the BBC.  So clearly it is used a great deal in schools.
Is that a recent one, study?

Well no, probably was about four or five years ago now.  2004, somewhere that sort of time.

Is most of the content on there stuff you’ve generated yourself?

All of it is.  

All of it?

Yeah.  I’m the only one who writes it, yeah.  I do have people writing in, saying can I contribute, but I … it’s difficult because I make money from the advertising from it and so it would be very difficult to work out if somebody else wrote it, so it’s basically, it’s easier, simpler for me to say no, I’m the only one who’s producing material.  Yeah, schools over-use …  So it was … one of the things that I used to use, obviously the internet in my teaching.  At that time I didn’t actually have a computer in my classroom.  Or I did have a computer in my class but I didn’t have an internet connected computer in my classroom, but we had one in the library.  And so they would do their homework via my website, so this thing about the Suffrage Union in East Grinstead for example, they would go to the library and download their page, who they were and things like that, look at the sources and do their work from that.  And we had some fascinating discussions with the kids, it worked really well and my exam results were really good as well.  I mean it works in that as well.  Something you’ve always got to take into account, the understanding they get from it and how it relates to their exam grades.  So I went to the head and said is there any possibility that we could have an internet room for the history department, and as it happened the government had approached the local council and the local council approached him saying there was money available to do this sort of thing if you put in a bid, so I wrote the bid for it.  And as a result we got a room in the history department that was … had about, we had twenty computers, internet connected, broadband.  So we’re talking here, must have been about 1998, ’99 sort of time.
That sounds pretty early.

So it was very early, we were very early, we were pioneering stuff there.  So then I … I’m not sure if I’m answering your question, but I’m just telling you about the way I used the internet in the classroom and then we can then discuss about whether other teachers were using it in the same way.  So once they were able to go into the history room, the computers, he said we’d have to keep a record of who’s using it and so there was pressure for the other members of the department to use it.  So I would have to devise work for them to use because they said to me, how do we use the computer, how can we use the internet like this?  So I used to have to devise work for them to do.  So I just went in there, told them to log on to a particular website, etc, and I used to have the whole thing set up for them.  So that worked quite well.  And there are creative ways of using the internet in the classroom, but I think far too many teachers use the internet by saying, do research on such-and-such a person and they would go, and they go to Wikipedia or something like this and they just copy it out and give it to the teacher.  So you’ve got to stop that and the best way of doing that is by creating the right sort of task.  So I think one of the most successful ways I used it was … I believe in personal education, personalised education, because one of the problems, again going back to my own education, is that you’re treated as, you know, thirty-two kids sitting in front of the teacher and they set everybody the same question.  And so you’ve got thirty-two answers and usually those answers are well, right or wrong, but it’s boring for the individual because you’re not finding anything new or anything at all, you’re not …   And there’s some research – I don’t know if you know about this research but I was very impressed by it – they did a research into memory retention, or information retention, and they looked at different teaching methods to see what the average retention rate was.  And the lowest of this retention rate was the way we teach mainly in school, teacher talking to a class.  They had a retention rate of something like two per cent, three per cent, it’s very low.  The second worst, reading a textbook.  But the highest is when the student plays the role of the teacher, when they’ve got to teach information.  And any teacher will tell you the same thing isn’t it, when you have to learn it yourself, then you find it easier.  You know, you really do learn if you’ve got to teach it.  So the most successful thing that I did was when each member of the class, I said I’ll give you something separate to do.  But it’s all got to be linked so I used to do something on the Home Front.  So I would say, carry out an investigation into the situation in Britain in say, 1943 and you’ve got to come up with advice about what we can do to improve the situation.  So one person would be put in charge of food, or another person would be maybe crime, and I created web pages on information about crime in 1943, about the means of protecting people from bombs and things like this.  So they’d all be in charge of a certain area and then their job was to report back to the class with their recommendations, what we’d do about the food supply or what we’d do about air raids, air raids and things like this.  And so the child becomes an expert on that particular subject and then they report back to the class.  I was very much influenced by a scene from the book Kes, also the film, which was written by a teacher and I think … there’s a scene where the boy is completely turned off education and the teacher is failing to get through to this boy and he asks him what he’s interested in.  And he finds out he’s interested in this kestrel and he gets him to talk to the class about it.  And the kid becomes very articulate.  I think that is so important, that if you can get the kids articulate, knowledgeable about something, it gives them the confidence because they are expert on that particular subject.  It’s like you get a kid talking about their football club and all of a sudden they’re an intellectual.  You know, they can analyse a game in great detail and you can recreate that in the classroom.  I mean in Kes he’s just talking about how … what an effect he has on that boy, but I mean the real art is turning that into dealing with your particular subject.  So that’s something that used to work very well.  In fact I used to do it before the internet.  I remember doing that when I was teaching in Brighton on the Second World War.  And the other thing I did was I’d give them a project on famous people in Brighton and they would do people and I would give them material on that, for example, famous murders that had taken place in Brighton, because again, that interests them.  And then they’d tell the whole class.  But they’d create their project but then they’d tell the whole class.  And to have to think of that, you know, how do I present this information, and so they become teachers and I think it’s a very good way of teaching people.  So I think if it’s used like that, if it’s simulations … I’ve created several simulations on the internet on, there’s one on the … one that’s been very popular and I’ve had a lot of feedback from is on child labour in the nineteenth century.
I had a look at that.

Yeah, so you know something about that, yes.  So they might play the role of a child, they might play the role of the factory owner, what have you.  But the interesting thing is the kids love to be someone who’s rich. [laughs]  They want to be factory owners rather than child labourers.  [laughs]  Or reformers, etc.  But, you know, in the debate that goes, because they’re an expert on that particular person and they get to know why that person thinks like the way they do, so you know, they’re usually quite shocked when there were doctors around who were in favour of child labour, but only because they were being paid by the factory owners to be in favour of child labour.  But they realise that there are two ways of seeing this, at least two ways.  So that’s been very successful and I’ve had emails from all over the world, people have used that material, because I suppose they all have related experiences of child labour and of course some countries they still do have child labour don’t they?  I mean America was late abolishing child labour.  So there’s that way of doing them and I’ve done lots of those simulations, using that approach where a person plays an individual.  So if people are using it in that way, then it’s fine, but this way you’ve got no way of controlling the way they use the materials.  And to be fair, I think if I was hypercritical of myself I should have spent more time turning my website into clearly defined materials, you know, like these simulations.  But in fact I haven’t done as many as I should have done really.  So I suppose a teacher would say it’s going to be a lot of work on their part, and people have said this to me, you know, when I’ve been doing in-service, there’s so much material, you know, how did they make use of that material and that they really need a guide, like these teachers’ books I used to write, you know, as a guide in.  But of course, that wouldn’t be very financially rewarding.  That’s the problem for me now.  I’m allowed to write about whatever I want to write, because whatever I write about it seems to …  I mean I get an overall sum from advertising on my site, which allows me to live a comfortable life, so I’m not shaped by market forces, I don’t say I’ll write a textbook about the Russian Revolution because they would sell well.  I don’t think like that, I just say … I mean I’ve just been doing a page on – well, doing a whole section of pages on Alice, the Alice Wheeldon case.  Alice Wheeldon was accused of trying to kill David Lloyd George in 1917, her and her two daughters and a son-in-law.  A trumped up case, they all went to prison for ten years plus.  It was really because they were involved in the peace movement and they wanted to discredit the peace movement in 1917, so they fitted her up over this.  It was a terrible scandal and it just got very little publicity.  A couple of years ago they released documents from the government, so they knew they’d been fitted up by these two agents working for MI5.  And David Lloyd George, he wanted it to happen, but then later on after the war, after the war had been won, he felt very guilty about it and he insisted that she was released on humanitarian grounds, but the damage had been done by then because her health was a terrible mess because she refused to eat in prison and she died soon afterwards.  But … then other one, one of the daughters died in childbirth soon afterwards as well.  Terrible case, but it’s only recently the documents have been released and it’s been one of those cases that has received very little attention.  So, you know, I will spend several weeks writing about that case.  And I don’t suppose it would raise a lot of money, but it’s something that you believe in so you do it.  So I’m free to do that because of my regular income that I get from the advertising and stuff.  And so a lot of money comes in from the First World War and the Second World War stuff, so probably you’d make more money if you spent more time on that sort of material and there’s whole sections which I haven’t done anything at all on that would be very appealing I suppose to teachers.  So … but that’s the good thing about it I suppose.  But I think if I’d … if the government had given me money – in fact it’s one of the things I was trying to get the Daily Telegraph and then The Guardian to do, because in … well, as I say, I created the website in 1997, wasn’t making any money out of it for many years, but by 2000 I’d been recruited by the Daily Telegraph to work for them and I had this plan, in fact it must have been earlier than 2000 because my plan was to involve the millennium.  It must have been ’98, ’99 I started working for the Telegraph.  And I proposed the idea that the Telegraph for a cost of, oh … I can’t remember the figure I gave, but fairly low cost, I said we could produce the complete National Curriculum of material and a way in to show the teachers how to use this.  Cover the whole of the Curriculum.
For history?

[2:20:11]

No, for all the …

For every subject?

Every subject, I said we could do this.  And I even had this slogan about our gift to the world, you know, our millennium gift to the world.  I said because it would be there forever, you know, and it could be used all over the world, you know.  It would so easy, you know, easy to do and it would only cost you a few hundred thousand pounds to do it.  And the editor who I was working under – because they have an electronic editor and also the editor of the newspaper – he thought it was a great idea and he put forward the proposal and it went, it was approved at every level until it got to Lord Black, Conrad Black, who was the chairman of the company, of the corporation.  And he turned it down.  And it’s interesting why he turned it down, he turned it down that teachers would be unwilling to use Daily Telegraph material.  

[both laughing]

Because of the political bias?

Well, the Telegraph is not very popular with teachers is it?  [laughs]  And he thought that would have influenced their use of the material.  But I said, my argument was that if it was free the teachers wouldn’t mind, you know, if it was good quality they would still use it.  But that was the reality, he turned it down anyway.  And then I was recruited by The Guardian, I was offered twice the money to go to The Guardian and so I went to The Guardian.  And I tried to sell them the same idea, but unfortunately it didn’t get much higher than the person who employed me who was the managing director of the internet section.  Because what they did, they turned it into a commercial …  See, I was brought in as an adviser and my advice was to produce this as free material.  I said, so you’ll never make any money out of it, I said, but as long as you don’t spend too much initially on it and it doesn’t have to, you don’t have to spend a lot of money on this, it would be great public relations, you know, you produce an education … and it’s not just for people in this country, it’s for the whole world, you know, great for the Third World as well.  And I said you can base it a lot on the archives of The Guardian, you know, which is a resource that would be offered free.  But I was never able to convince them of that and eventually they went completely against my advice and turned it into a subscription service, they didn’t even provide what they were doing free of charge.  I mean they would have gone out of business and they will eventually go out of business because the government again came to their aid and The Guardian are very close to the Labour government and they used to have a lot of these meetings and they persuaded them to bring in this thing called Youth Credits.  But what it meant is that schools, as long as they spent it on something to do with – I think Digital Credits wasn’t it – as long as it was digital material then again, it was like these funds they used early on with the computers.  And so some schools were persuaded to spend their money on The Guardian archive or the learn packages.  But the standard was appalling.  It actually, another reason why I left them was because … in protest about they were employing teachers from South Africa, retired teachers from South Africa to produce materials.  I mean that is a nonsense.  They’ve got no understanding of what we need in the National Curriculum, but they were cheaper than the teachers in this country.  I mean, absolute madness.
[2:23:33]
Just on a different tack, do you get a lot of feedback from teachers about history teaching and how they use your materials, that sort of thing, you know, through the forum and emails etc?

No, I don’t get … I get a lot of feedback.  I don’t know so much …  I get some feedback from kids.  Sometimes you get … or sometimes their parents say thank you, it’s really helped Johnny with his homework or, you know, thanks to it I got good grades for my work because of material from your website, you get that sort of thing.  I suppose maybe one or two a day you would get, something like that.  Then you would get people sending you emails and asking you for … as a reference for their work.  So, you know, say who I am and when it was actually produced and things like that, so I would get that sort of email.  I probably get more of those.  I will get several of those a day.  I get emails from people that I’ve written about or relatives of the people that I’ve written about, but I’ve …. very rarely do I get emails from teachers.  That’s interesting isn’t it?  Now you put that question, I very rarely do.

I just wondered whether you got any sense of how they use the site or not?  But …

No, in fact I don’t get much feedback from them.  On the forum, you know, I post material up there and I might get some sort of feedback, but not a great deal, no.  

[2:25:10]
Can I ask you, I mean initially you talked about …

No it’s alright, don’t worry about the time.  No, you’ve got as much as you want.

Initially we talked about, you said oh I don’t like objective history teachers, ie somebody who didn’t feel passionate about topics.  On the other hand, a lot of your simulations are designed to create a more sophisticated view, you know, that there are many views of the past.  So what are your sort of guiding principles behind teaching and behind your materials?

Behind my own materials?  Well go back to my own … I suppose it always goes back to your own reactions to education doesn’t it, you see, and I say the fact that the history lessons were cold at school and that this interview with this Arnold Shaw was very important.  Because I realised he did feel passionate about the past, about politics, and he’d controlled it and he hadn’t kind of got it across.  And one of the things that I found that kids really respond to is enthusiasm.  If you feel enthusiastic about a subject, to them they think, well there might be something in this.  If he’s so enthusiastic, you know, maybe it’s worth me being interested in it.  I think you definitely do carry people along with your enthusiasm.  And if the teacher comes across as, you know, it doesn’t really matter too much, as a lot of teachers do I think as self-protection.  I don’t know if I told you this story on the phone, but again, it’s one of those moments you have that you think that’s really important, that’s telling me something very important.  I was talking to a chap who had retrained, he was a music teacher who retrained as a maths teacher and he used to play in an orchestra.  I think he was mad about music and I was really puzzled by this and I said to him, you know, ‘Why did you retrain to become a maths teacher?’  And he said, ‘Because’ he said, ‘I love music too much’.  He said, ‘I found it really difficult to cope with the fact that the kids were constantly rejecting my teaching’.  He said, ‘I don’t care about maths so it doesn’t matter when they reject maths’.  And that’s true.  When you look back at your teaching, the most painful times as a teacher is when they reject the subject.  They don’t see why it’s important or why it’s interesting, etc.  And it’s unfortunate that sometimes you were only teaching a subject not because it’s important or … the reason you’re teaching it is because it’s part of the exam syllabus and you’ve got no real choice, so really …  So it’s not … you don’t teach exactly what you want to teach do you?  But I think it’s important to show that enthusiasm and you can’t act it, you’ve got to feel it, you’ve got to be true to yourself.  But there is a cost to that I think and it must be very difficult for teachers to be that enthusiastic for a very long period of time, I think virtually impossible.  See I only taught, I taught from ’77 through to ’84 and then I went back and taught probably from ’94, ’95 through to 2000 as a part-time teacher.  So my teaching time in the classroom was quite limited. 
But as an electronic educator, which is a sort of phrase I’ve used …

But now, I’m still teaching now and I can be very enthusiastic, as I am, about my subject.  And I talk about Alice Wheeldon, you know, someone like that, I … actually I read a book about this case just been published, and you get moved by it and you get angry at the fact this family were treated in this way. And you also get emotional about the fact that so few people know about it and you want to get that information out there, so you produce material.  So your enthusiasm’s coming out in that particular way.

[2:29:10]
Do you feel you’re sort of redressing an imbalance which reflects the official line and you’re uncovering like the alternative history?

Mm.

Has that always been the case?

Oh, it’s always been the case.  Because again, it goes back to my first experiences of teaching.  One of the reasons, looking back on it, why I found history boring was because it didn’t involve me.  It was telling their story as they worked out, already been worked out, and I didn’t have a role to play in that.  And so I’ve always been interested in interpreting whatever story I hear in a different way, you know.  Could this possibly be right, you know, is there a flaw in this story, maybe there’s another story there that’s being covered up.  I mean I remember reading about the Watergate case and reading books about Watergate, and it soon became clear that that wasn’t the full story, there’s another story there somewhere because this doesn’t make sense.  And I think there’s a lot of things like that.  Another thing that doesn’t make sense is Winston Churchill when he was elected Prime Minister in 1940 and he made these speeches about we’re going to fight to the very end.  And when you look at his appointments, he appoints the main appeasers.  There’s more promotion in the Cabinet of the appeasers than the anti-appeasers.  And Lord Halifax, who was the main appeaser, who was Foreign Secretary, he’s made Ambassador to Spain.  You think, well this is a strange thing, why has …  And when you do more research you find out that the cables that were going between Churchill and the Ambassador of Spain [fly buzzing in background] – sorry about this, background noise – they still haven’t been de-classified.  What was going on, especially in ’41, ’42, what was going on there?  Were there negotiations going on with Germany?  Because that would be the logical thing to do wouldn’t it, because there was no chance of winning that war at that time.  In 1940 it was complete madness to continue the war.  It was just … faced defeat.  And public opinion polls carried out at the time show that about seventy per cent of the people thought that Churchill was running the country on his behalf and not for the people.  There was tremendous cynicism during the Second World War and he was booed, when he was walking around London he was being booed.  As were the royal family.  Because they didn’t want to suffer like that.  So he was clearly, he was negotiating.  Unfortunately he wasn’t able to come up with a deal that suited Hitler.  But we’re not allowed to hear that story because it would change our perception of the British people, wasn’t it.  So whenever I’m reading anything, I’m always looking, is this the real story or is there another possible story, you know, what do the documents tell us?  And of course, in some of these cases the documents still haven’t been released have they?  As in Watergate.  
[2:32:13]
And that’s what you’re always trying to get teachers and pupils and students to actually, to do themselves through the site?

Erm … I don’t start off with that objective, no.  I just want to … I don’t really, I don’t really think in terms of the students like that.  I just really … I suppose I must have a concept of an audience don’t I, so I suppose it must …  Yes, that’s a very interesting question isn’t it really, because I suppose whenever you write you’ve always got some sort of idea of the audience haven’t you?  But most of the feedback I get, you know, you said about do I get feedback from teachers, I’m much more likely to get feedback from people who are doing research into that area or they’re connected in some way to that sort of person, or they might be even connected to something that I’ve written about that hasn’t been named, but they’ve got a story to tell and so I would create a page on them.  You know, this is quite regular I get contacted by people, especially about American history.  I’m quite interested in American foreign policy and I will get emails from people who have done jobs for the CIA or the FBI and what have you and they’re willing to, you know, they’re whistleblowers really, you know, and they put their side of the story which gives a different view to the official history.  So I do that.  But I suppose I see myself more, maybe more like a journalist really, who’s digging away there and just getting information out.  There was a fascinating interview which is related to this, on Monday, Start the Week, and it was the person who writes The Wire.  Do you watch The Wire?

No.

I don’t either.  My brother is a devoted fan.  But he was talking about how he was a reporter and he said if it wasn’t for working for the Chicago Times or whatever he worked for, he said he would never have been able to write this series, which has become quite a world hit.  But he was talking about the internet and he said, one of the problems about the internet, he said, is that the papers just can’t survive in the internet age and they’re closing down very quickly in America.  And he said, and he was concerned that the sort of work that he’s done wouldn’t be done in the future, because he said, I don’t suppose the paper actually made any money out of me but they paid me my wages when I was doing this research into the crime that was going on in that particular city.  And he said he just wonders what’s going to happen in the future for these sort of investigations.  I mean one answer is that someone like myself who just writes about that interests me, that intrigues me and things I think deserve to come out.  And it is history because it’s always about the past because you …  And so the way I’m paid is by my advertisers, so in theory there could be thousands of people like me writing about what interests them and they could make a living out of it.  But looking at the internet, there doesn’t seem to be very many who are trying it at the moment.

Perhaps the way of the future?

Maybe in the future.  And there’s a chap called Andrew Sullivan who writes a blog, he also writes for The Sunday Times – you know him do you?

Yeah.

And he was saying the other day in his article that his blog is read by more people than the Chicago Times, I think it was something like that.  And he was saying that was the reason why the Chicago Times is closing down because the cost of that operation, and there’s one man working in his office like me, one man working in his office, who can get this … I get six million page impressions a month on average, with this tremendous readership which is greater than newspapers.  And you can see the dynamics is changing completely.  But the trouble is, you could be writing away there – and I’m lucky because I’ve got all these websites.  I haven’t talked to you about Google ranking have I?

No.

[2:36:22]

Oh well, this is very important really and this would make it difficult for any teacher who wanted to start doing what I’m doing.  Google ranking is based on the idea of the number of sites that are linked to you.  So Google contacted me very early on, just after they started, no-one knew about Google at the time, and I was one of the sites that they found that they liked and they said would I publicise their site, and they paid me to publicise their site, their search engine and they do it for about a year and then by that time they were so successful they didn’t need me any more.  But what they were, they were two PhD students and they were doing research and they were using the internet to do the research and they were using the search engines to find this information and often they found really good sites, were helpful, but was very low down in the rankings. And in the early days it was very easy to cheat with the rankings by, for example, they had a keyword that was very important, say like Winston … say you wrote a page about Winston Churchill and Winston Churchill’s name, every time it appeared, one of the things you could do at the bottom of the page, you could type in Winston Churchill a hundred times on white, on a white background.  So you wouldn’t see it, but the search engines would see it.  And it was worked out how many times that keyword appeared on the page.  So there were ways like that to fiddle the search engine rankings.  And so they said how can we make sure the really good websites get to the top of the rankings.  And they thought well one way would be that people like us who find them, we like them and we give a link to them if we go on the website, and so they said we should have a system which is based on the idea of how highly it ranked by the number of links they had.  Now because I’d created my website early on and I didn’t charge for it, virtually every university, college and school throughout the world who had created websites gave a link to me as an information source.  So once Google got started I started appearing at the top of the rankings.  Now, so I’ve got that already.  So if a teacher starts today, has a website, they’re going to take years and years to get anywhere near the top of the rankings.  So their material’s not going to be seen.  So, it’s … because of the Google system, it’s very difficult for people to get started now.  This is my advantage, that I started at the beginning in 1997.  So I have power because of that early ranking, that early position, but it’s very difficult for new people to come on to …  But at the same time, people like, media bosses like Rupert Murdoch, their power is declining because of this.  And people organise themselves, as Barack Obama, I mean probably the only reason he got elected was because of the way he organised via the internet and the way he was able to raise so much money that way.  So it’s finding new ways of using that technology.  And one way in would be for some big corporation, some big company with a bit of money to spare, would be to get these teachers together and produce the National Curriculum, you know, the idea that I had for the Daily Telegraph all those years ago, they could do something like that.  And if they did it linked from their own website, which is also very highly ranked, it wouldn’t take too long to reach the top of the rankings.  Google have got a… because Wikipedia are very high in the rankings now and one of the things that annoys me is that it’s often, the Wikipedia page is based on my page and because it’s Wikipedia they’re getting a higher ranking than I do which is, I find rather annoying.  Because he started out very similar to me, Jimmy Wales who started Wikipedia, he started a year after me and he wanted to create an encyclopaedia like I started.  But he found he didn’t have enough time to do it [laughs] so course, once you got other people to do it, you couldn’t actually sell advertising on there because it was advertising on their … so it’s plus and minuses, but he raises money now doesn’t he, by creating a charity.  Apparently people donate a lot of money to him so he’s making the money that way.  But Google decided they were going to create their own encyclopaedia, but this time written by experts in the field and they’re going to be paid back by the advertising that comes on the page.  Now that’s something that would work, I would have thought.  
So that’s the history, the Tressell group of the future?

Yeah, yeah I would have thought that would be successful.  I’m a little bit worried about Google, because Google have too much power, don’t they, they just dominate.  And I just can’t understand why they’ve been allowed to dominate, especially with the advertising, because one of the reasons that my revenues have gone down is because Google pay us far less than they used to pay us, but they can afford not to pay us as much because there’s no competition.  I can’t take my business away and give it to Microsoft because Microsoft doesn’t have an equivalent system.  I don’t know why they’ve allowed them to dominate like that.

I think they’ve just launched one, Bing, haven’t they?

Who, Microsoft?

Microsoft, yeah.  It was on the news last night.

Oh really?  

We can stop now anyway, thank you very much.

[End of track 1]

[Track 2]

[0:00:00]

I think this will actually answer some of the questions that you’ve put down here.  When I started the website in 1997, I suppose it must have been probably within nine months or so I was contacted by a teacher from Sweden, and Sweden, they were very well organised and their schools are very well resourced and they soon had internet connected computers in their classrooms, but there was very little on there to actually use in the classroom.  The English thing’s not a problem because they study a lot of the stuff in English.  So he was using my website for his teaching and the Swedish government had a really interesting idea.  They actually, it was a … they had a coalition government at the time and the Minister of Education was actually a member of the Communist party, a woman, a feminist, and she had this idea of creating a virtual school and she was willing to put a lot of money, government money into this.  And their idea was to see it like a school and to invite people who were specialists in certain areas. So she arranged to have the heads of department, they were all teachers that they knew of in Sweden, so this chap, Dalaball, was – he hasn’t got a very Swedish name because he was a refugee from Hungary, er Czechoslovakia, he’d come over in 1968 - so he was made head of history and they had other Swedish teachers who were head of different departments, but one of the problems was, most of them didn’t know much about computers, but they were Swedish. And so they were told to contact people in their field who seemed to be doing interesting things and invite them to join this virtual school.  So I was invited to a meeting in Stockholm and what the idea was, that they was going to create a website and we were going to produce materials for them.  And they weren’t going to pay us any money as such, but what they would do is pay for us to go to different places in Europe for meetings and things and we spent sort of five days or so in a hotel and had meetings about it.  And one of the problems about the whole project was, it was too much about meetings, not enough about producing materials and very little, few materials got produced.  But I was able to bring in people that I’d come across on the web who had produced good teaching materials.  Because when I was working for the Telegraph, one of my jobs at the Telegraph was to write reviews of teacher websites, so I used to spend quite a bit of time searching around and it wasn’t only in history, all over the subjects.  And I actually formed an Association of Teacher Websites – the ATW.  And so I got a very, lot of talented people.  And in the late nineties, late 1990s, there were some very creative people who created their own websites.  Unfortunately, most of them now have gone because they couldn’t find a way out of making money out of their websites.  History’s easier to make money out of because there’s such a general audience out there who use your page, but if you’re doing physics, you would only get students who will use it.  So I brought on board a lot of other teachers I knew had created their own websites.  But as I say, really it was just about having meetings in different parts of Europe.  And it was all very pleasant and things, but not much was done out of it.  Anyway, eventually there was a change in government, they had a Conservative government and they decided they weren’t willing to spend all this money on this virtual school and they closed it down.  So it was a good idea, but at the same time it wasn’t a good use of public money.  By the way, some other countries joined in and paid money.  Germany did, Austria did, Italy did, Spain did, Portugal.  There were some countries.  But the British government wouldn’t give any money.  And I used to write to the Department of Education and say, you know, I think you should support this venture.  And I had meetings at the Department of Education and they said, in a way they were probably right, they said we’ve looked at this and our experience is that nothing productive comes out of these things.  It’s just a waste of money.  But what was very interesting, just before it closed down, Charles Clarke became Minister of Education and Charles Clarke is very interested in European co-operation and modern technology, so he said to his civil servants, is there anything going on that I should know about in this field.  So they went through all their emails and they came across my email, and I was invited in.  Charles Clarke wasn’t at the meeting but his personal assistant was.  And he agreed to put up money for this, but unfortunately by the time they agreed to put all this money into it, the Swedish government pulled out, so nothing happened, which was rather frustrating.  Anyway, I’d met some very interesting people who wanted to do interesting things on the web but really, given the way it was set up, wasn’t able to do.  So we got together and said why don’t we come up with a project, Comenius project, and we brought in a couple of other people that wasn’t there, including Terry Haydn who’s …
Oh yeah.

[0:05:42]
You know Terry Haydn?  He’s probably one of the leading experts of use of technology in the classroom, and he joined the group. And we put in this bid to Comenius and it was called The E-help Project, and it’s about teaching, running in-service courses for teachers in Europe, showing them how to make the best use of the internet.  And so we got about three-quarters of a million Euros I think, all told, on this project.  Some of the funding comes from individual institutions that’s involved, like the University of East Anglia – it is the University of East Anglia isn’t it?

The one in Norwich?

The one in Norwich, yeah.

Yes, UEA.
UEA, that’s right, UEA.  East Anglia, yeah.  So they put money in as well and we had a couple of schools in Sweden, we had a school in Holland, school in Spain, school in France – even though it was an English speaking school.  Who else was involved?  There was three from the UK.  Institutions from the UK.  And it became this course and it was, we were going really well, but unfortunately after two years the representative from the French school was sacked over a union dispute and the project came to a halt and …   But we reported back to Brussels and of course the bureaucracy, it takes such a long time to get it sorted out, but eventually they … this International School of Toulouse agreed to drop … they would drop out of the project and it would be taken over by this Swedish school and we’d bring in the teacher who was the head of the project had got a job at Bratislava School in Brataslavia. And we formed and we’ve finished off the project and we’re just waiting for it to be approved.  So once that approval goes through we’ll be running courses throughout Europe on the use of technology to teach history.  So that is quite exciting.  And that’s where you saw the videos didn’t you?  One of the things we’ve done already is to put up – oh I don’t know – it’s thirty odd videos.  Because one of the things we did while we were running the course, we would have our meetings and for every meeting we invited experts in history teaching using technology – sometimes they were experts on using technology and weren’t history teachers – to come over and give us a talk and these were filmed and these films were put on the internet for anybody to look at.  So it’s quite an exciting resource really for history teachers.

[0:08:31]
So is it, the training will be for history teachers from across Europe …

That’s right.

… on how to use the internet?

Yeah.

In their teaching.

In their teaching.  It will be in English, but there will be some sessions will be available in the native language of the people involved, because as I say, we’ve got people from Holland and Sweden and Spain, from France.  So there will be options for teachers but on the whole it … I mean I think most of the Comenius courses, the language is English so most of it will be in English.  And one of the ideas of the course is to show teachers how to create their own websites and the latest technology that’s available to them.  So I mean it’s been developed by classroom teachers and it should be very good, we’ve got some really good people involved in the project.

[0:09:28]

There’s no difference in the way that the teachers from the Continent want to use the internet materials to the way you would do in the UK then?

Well, this is very interesting.  It’s not often, I suppose people in this country are not obviously aware of it, but there’s a different culture of teaching history and other subjects in this country.  I think it goes back to probably in the 1960s and seventies where teachers were expected, to be a good teacher you had to produce your own materials, and so there was an emphasis on being creative, but also, you know, you had your Mode 3s, you could design your own courses and things like this.  So that period developed a generation of teachers who thought they should produce their own materials and Tressell I think was part of that.  And I think the response to Tressell was part of that.  Now, so when the internet started in 1997 there was quite a few – well I say quite a few – probably I knew of about probably fifteen, twenty history teachers who created websites after I did.  Maybe they were partly inspired by mine, but even other subjects there would be a group.  I know from the Association of Teacher Websites that there were these people around, using the websites.  Now that didn’t happen throughout the rest of Europe.  In Spain I think you just got the one, he was a member of our group.  Because I know, meeting these people from Sweden and Spain and Italy and what have you, that it just hasn’t happened in their country.  And I think it is partly because their teaching’s always been very textbook based and the teacher’s role was not to produce the teaching materials, it was to teach via the book.  So I think it’s opened up their eyes about the way the internet’s being used and so now they use the materials that individuals write, so direct to us.  Which gives access to our materials which they wouldn’t have had beforehand.  So as far as I know, it hasn’t changed and the teachers haven’t produced their own websites, but hopefully with these courses they will persuade teachers to produce their own materials.  Because we’ve got things like intranet now and so more teachers are producing their own materials but it’s only being used within their own school aren’t they?  And from what I’ve heard, a lot of it is just taken from people’s sites like mine and in the same way as the old materials that were produced by teachers in the classroom, often they were photocopied and most of them were really taken from textbooks and …
Pasted together.

Yeah, pasted together, yes.  And so the amount of creativity was probably a small amount of it.  But teachers did feel they should be doing that.  I don’t know whether they still feel that today, probably they don’t.

It’s a good question, because the National Curriculum may have changed that attitude because there’s so much delivered material isn’t there?

Yeah, there is, mm.  And whether the teachers have got the time and space to do it as well, which is another factor.  But I know when I first started teaching we would have courses.  In year seven we used to have a course on local studies and it was all based on materials produced by the teachers.  We had about three, all based on the materials produced by teachers.  We had no option, there was no textbooks around Mode 3, we had to produce our own materials.  But of course it’s very, very different isn’t it now, and one of the things I’ve found with the National Curriculum and I’ve read reports about this, that often the teachers who’ve dropped out of teaching with the introducing of the National Curriculum, were often the most creative teachers who found it impossible to teach to that prescription.  I remember one chap telling me that he used to devise his lesson walking to the classroom, you know.  And he would leave it to the latest moment to be inspired, you know, what he was going to teach and things like that.  Now obviously that’s taking it all too far and I was never that type at all.  But nowadays a teacher has to go with a prepared lesson plan.  Now to me, I would find it, I mean I did when I was Ofsted inspected when I was a teacher in the late nineties, I was Ofsted inspected a couple of times and of course you did do what they expected you to do, you know.  You didn’t do it for the rest of the year, but you did lesson plans and what have you.  But I didn’t find it a natural thing and I don’t think you’ve got the, possibly got the time to do it for every lesson.  To me it’s mind-boggling.  And this idea which has come in since I’ve left really, is the idea there should be a certain structure to the lesson, you know, is it four stages or what have you.  That sort of idea is completely alien to me and I don’t think I could become a teacher actually as it’s taught at the moment.  It wouldn’t appeal to me at all to teach in that way.  Because, you know, I come in with this passion and we’re going to do it in this particular way.  The idea I’m coming into this straightjacket, it’s got to be done this way.  Well it’s not appealing to me.  And I suspect you are getting a different type of teacher now.

It’s possible.  That’s part of my job to find out.  Thank you very much.

Well, what are your views on that then?

[End of recording]
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